



Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet

# Master's Thesis 2022 30 ECTS

Department of International Environment And Development Studies

The Politics of the New Media and Poverty Reduction in Nigeria (2000 - 2022)

## Daniel Nwachukwu

Global Development Studies

# **DECLARATION**

I, Daniel Nwachukwu, declare that this thesis is a result of my research investigations and findings.
Sources of information other than my own have been acknowledged and a reference list has been
appended. This work has not been previously submitted to any other university for the award of any
type of academic degree.

Signature	-0								
יוט	gnatui	₾	 						

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis advisor Professor Darley Jose Kjosavik, for her invaluable patience, guidance, support, and encouragement throughout the entirety of this project. I am also grateful to the Norwegian University of Life Sciences, the staff at SiT (NMBU), and the Faculty of Landscape and Society (LANDSAM) for providing me with the resources and opportunities to conduct this research. I could not have completed this thesis without the support of Beth Annwyl Roberts, Vilma Veronica Bischof, Grete Grindal Patil, Tendai Chella Bengtsson, and Nora Halse. I also want to that the members of the Board of Appeal for their understanding. I wish all of them the best in life. Thank you all.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for their unwavering support and understanding during the time it took to complete this thesis.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the contributions of the data research centers, think tanks, media outlets, and academic groups involved in this research. Their insights and expertise were instrumental in making this thesis possible.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	ix
DECLARATION	•
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	;
ABSTRACT	;
Chapter 1: Introduction	4
1.1 Research Objectives	Ģ
1.2 Outline of the Thesis	10
CHAPTER 2: Research Methodology	12
2.2 Desk Research	1:
2.3 Observational Studies	10
2.4 Document Analysis	1′
2.5 Limitations of Qualitative Research in this study	19
2.6 Ethical Consideration	24
2.7 Summary	2:
CHAPTER 3 - Public Sphere Theory	20
3.2 Habermas Definition of the Public Sphere: A Critical Examination	30
3.3 Liberal, Capitalist, Marxist & Feminist Viewpoints on Public Sphere	30
3.3.1 Liberal View	30
3.3.2 Capitalist View	39
3.3.3 Marxist View	4
3.3.4 Feminist View	44
3.4 Conclusion	48
CHAPTER 4: Exploring the Poverty Crisis in Nigeria	49
4.1 The Rise of Social media users in Nigeria	53
4.2 Exploring the Relationship Between Nigerian Poverty and Media Intervention: Challenges an Opportunities.	.d 54
4.3 Dilemma in Poverty Reduction	58
4.4 President Olusegun Obasanjo's Era	64
4.4.1 Expectations unmet after privatization	6
4.5 Yar'Adua's Era	72
4.6 President Goodluck Jonathan's Era	7:
4.7 President Muhammadu Buhari's Era	80
4.7.1 #ENDSARS	84
4.8 History of Violence Against Journalists & Media Workers	89
4.9 The Capitalist and the Anti-Feminist Effect	90
5.0 Conclusion	92
REFERENCES	94

## **ABSTRACT**

The Nigerian anti-poverty schemes have had mixed success since 2000. In general, poverty levels have decreased over the past two decades, although this has not been uniform across the country. The federal government has implemented a number of initiatives and programs to address poverty, including the introduction of the National Poverty Eradication Programme (NAPEP) in 2001 to the launch of the National Home-Grown School Feeding Programme (NHGSFP) in 2016. These schemes have provided financial and material support to millions of Nigerians living in poverty, helping to reduce poverty levels and improve the quality of life for many. However, poverty remains a persistent problem in Nigeria, with large regional disparities in access to government services and programs. Despite the government's efforts, the majority of Nigerians still live in poverty, and there is still a great deal of work to be done in order to reduce poverty and improve the quality of life for all Nigerians. In recent years, new media companies have started using technology to help track the progress of these schemes and measure the impact of the programs on poverty levels. These companies are also engaging with local communities to ensure that the programs are reaching those in need. However, there are still significant gaps in the implementation of these programs, and many of the most vulnerable people in the country remain unable to access them. In addition, there is a lack of enforcement of anti-poverty policies, leading to little improvement in poverty levels. Nigerian social media has been increasingly used to spread awareness of anti-poverty efforts and has played a role in mobilizing support for poverty alleviation initiatives. Social media platforms like Twitter, Facebook, and WhatsApp, have seen a surge in activism, with many Nigerians using these platforms to highlight the urgent need for action on poverty. Social media has also been used to spread information about poverty-reduction initiatives and to encourage citizens to demand better policies from the government. This has enabled the government to better understand the challenges facing communities and provide more targeted support. This paper examines the role of the media and government in poverty reduction in Nigeria. It focuses on the relationship between the government and media in the fight against poverty, their respective contributions to poverty reduction, and the challenges faced in achieving this goal. The paper is based on a review of the literature, interviews with key stakeholders, and a survey of the media's coverage of poverty reduction in Nigeria. It finds that the media and government have been largely successful in their respective roles in poverty reduction and that their cooperation is essential for the success of poverty reduction initiatives.

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Specifically, the purpose of the thesis is to investigate the political implications of the use of new media in reducing poverty in Nigeria. There has been a shift in the Nigerian media industry over the past few years from old media to digital media, which has contributed to new media becoming a part of the mainstream. It redefined information distribution and paved the way for higher engagement between the media community and its audience (Zayani, 2020). Internet access, management, commenting, and sharing of information have become more popular in Nigeria thanks to the internet and its increasing popularity via the internet. The new media platforms offer a two-way flow of information, in contrast to traditional media platforms that only allow one-way communication (Sarangi & Jha, 2014). As new media develops, sometimes in unpredictable, ways, democratic governance and politics are affected dramatically, transforming both the media landscape and media structures. The advent of new media has resulted in many changes in the way government institutions operate, how political leaders communicate, how government programmes are run, and the way the public is more involved, as a result of the shift from traditional media to new media. Through the new media, Nigerian democracy has taken on a whole new dimension where many voices can now be heard from many directions, rather than just a few. Democracy requires equal access to information and equal opportunity to participate in public debates that ultimately lead to political decisions. The Nigerian audience now has more access to social media, blogging, and news websites than ever before. Nigeria has over 113.8 internet users as of January 2019, according to the Nigerian Communication Commission (Leadership, 2022). New media's role and consequences in political life will also be explored briefly in this project and also the role and consequences of new media towards poverty issues will be examined in greater detail.

Aside from that, it was no longer only the media companies that disseminate information, but the audience as well, which is conceptualized as gatewatchers (Bruns, 2003). Through new

media, the concept of gatewatching dislodged the old notion known as gatekeeping. It was once the case that every piece of media that was released was filtered by gatekeepers before the internet came along. In traditional journalism, gatekeeping is an important part of the process. An editor must be consulted before a journalist can publish a piece of content. McQuail (2010) defines gatekeeping as 'the process by which decisions are made in media work, especially whether or not to admit a particular news story to pass through the gates of a news outlet into its channels.' An editor's job is to be a gatekeeper, determining what is newsworthy and factual, and ensuring that both are accurate. Despite this, there were some loopholes in this process that will be discussed in more detail during the course of this project.

However, Nigerians have participated in politics to greater extents since new media platforms like the internet has become more affordable and accessible. Nigerians are becoming more aware of the government's political agendas through social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. The new media has changed how people interact with each other and the government. It has created an environment where citizens feel that they have more power than ever before. As a result of these reasons, the government has begun to view digital media critically, especially social media platforms, which they view as a threat to political stability. Nevertheless, government officials also use social media platforms to inform the public about their plans. The new media era has also changed how we do politics. Politicians are now able to connect directly with their constituents through social media. As far as the new media is concerned, it seems to serve both ends. There is, therefore, a dilemma.

As a general rule, the new media has played a vital role in Nigerian elections and politics. Political campaigning, ideological cheerleading, and political mobilization are all possible through its participatory nature (Adenle, 2020). We are living in a world where democracy and politics are heavily influenced by the new media. Even though, people can express themselves on the internet, whether it is positive or negative, and have a voice. It is also true that this new media can also be used as an instrument for manipulating the public by

governments and political influencers. In the 21st century, campaigns can be won or lost on social media. Those politicians who have strong social media presence are more likely to win elections since they are able to reach a wider audience than their opponents. During and after the election, the Buhari administration, for instance, utilized social media platforms to reach out to Nigerians to reiterate its commitment to reducing poverty. There are two slogans that have dominated the headlines of his first and second administration campaigns, 'change' and 'next level', respectively, which have flooded social media platforms and won the hearts of voters. At a time when the poverty rate has risen to about 71.5% (NBS, 2011), Nigerian citizens were eager for a change. In spite of this, there is a worrying trend of using social media for the purpose of manipulating citizens' moods, especially in the area of poverty, which is one of Nigeria's greatest challenges.

In Nigeria, poverty challenges have been an age-old problem. According to the World Bank and other global financial institutions, Nigeria is one of the 40 most impoverished countries in the world (Katayama & Wadhwa, 2019). Nigeria has been battling extreme poverty for more than three decades. A major contributor to the poor's plight is the lack of access to basic public services. There is no doubt that education and healthcare are important routes out of poverty for families who are vulnerable. Research revealed that poor citizens are more likely to benefit from aid when they participate physically and digitally in government-run poverty reduction initiatives (Guillaumont & Wagner, 2014). A great deal of concern exists regarding the reduction of poverty in conflict-affected areas of Nigeria's northern region. To determine the causes of poverty in the part of the country, a report by the World Bank placed blame on insurgency, a lack of infrastructure, a poor educational system, and poor delivery of social services as some of its causes (IPSOS, 2019). Considering that there are religious elements in these areas and that freedom of speech is limited in these areas, it is hard to get regular updates on poverty reduction through media intervention.

There has been an array of initiatives undertaken on both an international and domestic level to achieve this objective. Numerous attempts have been made by Nigerian presidents to alleviate poverty conditions in the country. General Ibrahim Babangida created the

Directorate of Food, Roads, Power, and Sanitation (DFRIS) in 1986 to improve the road infrastructure, build toilets, and provide drinking water to rural communities. It is estimated that approximately 80 billion dollars were spent on this project without any benefits being realized by the Nigerian people. In 1993, Abacha and his wife launched the Family Support and Family Economic Welfare program to assist the poor. Through taxes, the Family Support Program procured 10 billion (and used most of it) for private benefit. Obasanjo (1999-2007) also launched, like his predecessors, the National Economic Empowerment Development Strategy (NEEDS). A number of Obasanjo's ideas have been put in place to improve the financial conditions of the poor, but his initiatives have been unable to be implemented due to incompetent organization. The late President Yar'adua's 7-point agenda (2007-2010), which focused on poverty alleviation in microeconomic management and monetary policy areas, was too ambiguous and confused Nigeria's development goals. Nigeria's president Jonathan (2010-2015) created a five-year development strategy to combat inflation, create jobs, and alleviate poverty, but half the country lives in poverty today. More than half of the Nigerian population remains trapped in poverty despite all these efforts (Dapel, 2018).

According to the "2019 Poverty and Inequality in Nigeria" report, 40 percent of Nigeria's population, or almost 83 million people, live below the poverty line of 137,430 Naira (\$381.75) per year. A condition of poverty in this sense is one that is defined by insufficient resources and incomes, as well as, in its most extreme form, the absence of basic human needs such as shelter, clean water, nutritious foods, clothing, and health care services. As part of the current Buhari administration's efforts to deal with poverty and hunger, the National Social Investment Programme was instigated in 2016. The N-Power program is a part of the Nigerian Social Inclusion Program (NSIP) that is designed to assist unemployed persons between the ages of 18 and 35 in acquiring life-long skills along with a stipend per month worth N30,000 (\$73). As well as that, Conditional Cash Transfers are designed to support those within the poorest bracket of society by providing them with N5000 (\$12) every month. A recent report on poverty indicates that it is difficult to judge the effectiveness of these programs solely based on the administration's subjective accolades, but rather whether they are helping Nigerians escape poverty or pushing them further into it (Tamir, 2019). Pew

Research estimates that more than half of Nigerians still perceive the economy as bad. Considering the increasing number of poor people in the country, it would be fair to conclude that Buhari's promises have not been kept. Due to this failure, the citizens have resorted to pointing out the government's incompetence in reducing poverty through digital media, particularly through social media, in order to call out its incompetence.

In the Nigerian government's opinion, most of the information about poverty conditions from social media is false or is a product of hate speech. In part, because of the open, anonymous, and collaborative framework of social media, it serves as an incredibly powerful tool to adapt and spread hate speech and fake news in a wide variety of ways. An individual can define hate speech in a number of different ways, and it can mean a kind of language that implies disrespect towards people who have authority over them. There has been a long history of fake news and common misconceptions in politics, but the spread of misinformation and hate speech on social media has caused widespread concern over the past few years (Flynn, Nyhan, & Reifler, 2017). It should be noted, however, that there is a distinction between free speech and hate speech. A faultfinding exercise and the reporting of factual information can often be misinterpreted as hate speech and fake news, respectively. especially when they appear to be threats to the government as a whole. Oftentimes we see examples of repressive governments using social media platforms and apps to repress their own citizens, manipulate elections, create a climate of dissent, and clamp down on freedom of expression on the internet. It was announced on November 5, 2019, that the Senate of the Federal Republic of Nigeria has introduced the Protection from Internet Falsehood and Manipulations Bill 2019 which is widely known as Anti-Social Media Bill in order to make it illegal to spread false information on social media through those platforms (Olaniyan & Akpojivi, 2020). It targets social media platforms like Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, WhatsApp, online blogs, and other digital media platforms, which are reportedly overgrowing among Nigerians, especially the youth and social critics.

The bill provides, among other things:

"Where any person in order to circumvent this law makes any allegation and or publishes any statement, petition in any paper, radio, or any medium of whatever description, with malicious intent to discredit or set the public against any person or group of persons, institutions of government, he shall be guilty of an offense and upon conviction, shall be liable to an imprisonment term of two years or a fine of N4 million....where any person, through text message, tweets, WhatsApp or through any social media, posts any abusive statement knowing same to be false, with intent to set the public against any person and group of persons, he shall be liable to an imprisonment for two years or a fine of N2 million or both."

- Protection from Internet Falsehood and Manipulations Bill 2019

However, the anti-social bill contradicts Section 39 of the Nigerian Constitution 1999, which is straightforward in its provision that: "Every person shall be entitled to freedom of expression, including the freedom to hold opinions, and to receive and impart ideas and information without interference." The anti-social bill, otherwise known as the Protection from Internet Falsehood and Manipulations Bill 2019, empowers law enforcement to arrest those found guilty of disseminating false information online. Digital media users, including journalists, social commentators, online newspapers, and even internet service providers, are at risk. Law enforcement agencies would also be able to order internet service providers to disable net access if they choose to do so under this bill. This type of censorship entails the beginning of the end of internet freedom. There is now a new battleground opening up between governments that are attempting to restrict online content and freedom of expression, and the people who see digital media as a medium to voice out their poor living conditions (Nunziato et al., 2014).

The media is crucial to liberal democracy, but some governments try to stifle it by passing hostile legislation or intimidating them. It is this situation that is present with Nigeria's Anti-Social Media bill. In the event that this bill is passed into law, people who post critical comments about politicians or government institutions via text messages, Facebook posts, tweets, blogs, WhatsApp messages, or any other digital media platform will be jailed, fined, or both (Amnesty International, 2019). It is the current President of Nigeria, Muhammadu Buhari, who has heavily relied on the influence of social media and hate speech against its opponents in order to win the 2015 and 2019 elections, who now wants social media regulations and censorship in place. It is therefore likely that the media and poverty reduction are also influenced by elites. Or so to say. Some Nigerian digital media users are even amplifying pro-government content and suppressing the voices of average Nigerians as the government has been subjected to an upsurge of criticism from Internet users about the poor living conditions in Nigeria (Page, 2021). This maybe due to fear of government retribution and the desire to protect themselves from being labeled as agents of dissent. Furthermore, there is a lack of public trust in the government, which has caused many to become disillusioned with their government and opt to not share their opinions online. It is well known that history casts long shadows on the Nigerian poor, which are often misunderstood or ignored by the governing authorities. Despite the different regimes and administrations in Nigeria, why do they produce the same development outcomes? In the new media era, there should be an understanding of how power is played between elites and the broader community.

Nevertheless, cases like these were evident throughout the pre-election campaign and most prominently during the #EndSARS protests on October 20, 2020. Several social networking sites were prominent in the #EndSARS protests by young Nigerians calling for the disbandment of the Special Anti-Robbery Squad also known as SARS (an infamous police unit). There was also a call for government reforms that would be inclusive of all citizens. The Special Anti-Robbery Squad (SARS) was formed in 1992 to combat vehicle thefts, rustling, and armed robberies. SARS was, however, highly criticized over the years due to allegations of extortion, torture, human trafficking, invasion of privacy, rape, genital

mutilation, and other violent crimes (Malumfashi, 2020). On October 20, 2020, a protest was held and targeted at ending police brutality in Nigeria. The purpose of that protest was to end police brutality in Nigeria. Instead, the protest changed into a call for holistic government reforms through the implementation of a five-point agenda known as the #EndSARS Movement. It was a movement that demanded a solution to the country's unemployment crisis, poor infrastructure development, and bad governance while also calling for an end to the brutality of the police.

It is also important to note that, as a result of the size and persistence of the #EndSARS movement on social media, there has also been an upsurge of pro-government online campaigns that would prove beneficial to President Buhari and his administration. Despite the fact that there was no direct confirmation linking President Buhari's administration with these campaigns, the content being published and shared on social media platforms heavily supported him. Through their social media accounts, so-called social media influencers share their pro-government views with their followers (the majority of whom have little understanding of political issues). In other cases, the media companies may choose to side with the authorities due to fear of the direction of the owner or senior management (Loo, 2003). In some cases, the opinions that emerge from social media influencers and inline news websites may not be entirely true or arise from patriotism or goodwill, but rather for the purpose of propagating a particular group's political interests as a whole. Media bias, particularly in relation to poverty as well as other matters in general, has become an integral part of the media criticism process over the years, due to the increasing number of people who have voiced their complaints, reflected in the deepening partisan divisions in society at large and the need for more balance in the media as a whole. In my opinion, this kind of statement would not accurately reflect the realities of journalism, considering that we are witnessing the transition from print advertising to digital advertising in the publishing industry, which is focused on growing readers and their numbers. As it pertains to marketing as well as competition for readers' attention, this is more of a matter of compromising political loyalty than anything else. The reporting of poverty can be complicated in many instances, especially when there is a two-sided story to tell.

In the case of poverty reduction, there is also a problem due to the government's poorly coordinated, highly exclusive top-down distribution system. Unconditional cash transfers and credit loan schemes all had a vague selection process, and the conditions for receiving welfare were either vague or unnecessarily secretive. Also, there is a lack of full and timely disclosure of information, particularly regarding anti-poverty programs, by citizens and governments. Asamoah argues that transparency in government and the public sphere is something that should be encouraged and encouraged (Asamoah, 2019). Despite the fact that a one-way information approach is likely to be insufficient in order to stimulate interaction and understanding between citizens and the government, e-transparency must be supplemented to this effect (Welch & Hinnant, 2003).

Due to the advent of digital media and the Internet, government programs are now much more likely to utilize the advantages of information and communication technologies to ensure improved transparency and citizen engagement in government programs, which has been greatly enhanced by the advent of digital media and the Internet. Using technology and social media, this method could be extended in a more comprehensive way in order to track and monitor beneficiaries and their achievements, by integrating technology and social media. It is possible to determine the effectiveness of the government's efforts to reduce poverty by using the information that is available in real-time. There are many arguments that are raised when it comes to misinformation and fake news on the internet. One of the main arguments has to do with who is spreading the information in the first place and why.

There have been several cases of journalists and social commentators arrested, detained, or missing when they criticize how the government administers its anti-poverty programs. The threat of violence still exists for journalists in Nigeria after two decades of transitioning from military rule to democracy. This issue of poverty reporting is a complex one that connects to other diverse issues such as corruption, human rights abuse, and mismanagement of funds. A new report published by Amnesty International details attacks on the Nigerian media since 2015. The new report claims that at least 19 journalists and media workers have been

targeted between January and September of 2021 in Nigeria. If public stories about poverty reduction are promoted through the media as well, then it raises further questions about the relevance of poverty reduction. Especially in the case of national budgets, journalists and citizens should emphasize the importance of critical aspects of the policymaking process associated with poverty reduction.

## 1.1 Research Objectives

Throughout the course of this study, the main focus will be on exploring how politics affect the way the media covers poverty issues, especially in digital media. There has been a lot of interest generated over the last few years regarding the role of digital platforms, such as social media, in politics and development issues, such as poverty. Thus, we are now able to gain a greater understanding of the many ties that exist between social media, poverty reduction, and the science of politics as a whole. The purpose of this study is to identify whether the use of digital media can be an effective means of reducing poverty as a result of its use. In particular, I am interested in the way the Internet is becoming increasingly interconnected and how it is facilitating the participation of citizens in politics through the use of social media. It is intended that this study will examine how information flows influence social and political participation in a variety of areas, especially when it comes to poverty issues. It is also crucial to state that the structure and policies of social media usage are no less important as a consequence of economic progress or government action.

As a final part of this study, we will demonstrate how information dissemination affects poverty by focusing on fake news, misinformation, campaigning, and mobilization via digital media platforms. It is imperative to determine how digital media users use poverty stories to achieve specific objectives as well as the democratization of digital media operations when it comes to developmental topics like poverty in Nigeria.

Despite the researcher's cultural experiences and views on poverty in which digital media played a significant role in the research, it will provide a better understanding of the realities

of poverty reporting from the perspectives of journalists, citizens, the government, and political entanglements.

The study's general objective is to examine the role of media and the politics involved in poverty reduction in Nigeria.

The research has the following objectives:

- 1. To provide a comprehensive examination of current and previous digital media contents on poverty issues in Nigeria;
- i. How do the Nigerian digital media report poverty issues, and how do their various standpoints influence poverty reduction in Nigeria?
- ii. To what extent has politics interfered in the digital media reporting of poverty issues in Nigeria?
- 2. To critically review the distinct ways of understanding the role of digital media, at the same time differentiate the roles of the different media technologies and the machinations involved in poverty reporting;
- i. What diverse roles have different digital media technologies played in reporting poverty issues or promoting poverty reduction in Nigeria?

#### 1.2 Outline of the Thesis

There are four chapters in the thesis outline, each of which includes several sub-sections. A brief introduction to the topic will be provided in Chapter 1, followed by a brief description of the background of the research project and an overview of its objectives will follow. This study sought to find out what its objectives were, and what was the motivation behind the researcher's effort. A description of the research design will be given in Chapter 2, along with the methods used to acquire the data and the analysis methods that were used to locate the data. It is intended that the research study will employ a qualitative methodology, which emphasizes a logical approach to the theoretical concepts in order to prove its validity.

Further information will be provided on the reliability, validity, triangulation, and limitations of this study.

The third chapter presents the Public Sphere theory and includes an overview of the major works of reference that have been cited as examples of the theory and discuss the critiques of Habermasian public sphere theory. As part of the first part of this presentation, I will briefly summarize key elements of the public sphere perspective, and I will underline three main levels of the public sphere introduced by Dahlgren (2005): the structural, the representational, and the interactive dimensions. Furthermore, there is also a focus on a few key points in the second part of the text, namely poverty reduction as well as the challenges posed by the use of new media in Nigeria, based on the public sphere perspective. To conclude, this chapter examines how the public nature of new media can be beneficial to Nigerian citizens, as well as the Nigerian government, in relation to the use of new media in light of the public sphere theory.

In Chapter 4, several points are going to be discussed. To begin with, a brief background description of the case study will be provided, highlighting the controversies that surround both the current and previous poverty reduction programs in Nigeria that have existed since the 1980s. The chapter aims to explain why there has been no success in reducing poverty in Nigeria despite many efforts. A discussion will be held regarding the current political games that are being played between governments and new media users, specifically regarding issues related to poverty reduction. There has been continuous criticism of the government's anti-poverty programs on digital media by users who are keen on solving Nigeria's poverty problem. It is then discussed how digital platforms, including social media like Facebook and Twitter, as well as news websites and blogs, have played a crucial role in disseminating information pertaining to poverty and the politics involved in the process. Also, we will be discussing the application of practices and concepts of the new media, how communication messages are created, the choice of a specific medium for communication with the audience, the audience's active involvement, and the provisions that determine which medium is used and which is not used to gain the audience's attention on issues like poverty.

As part of the final part, a study of the findings is based on the content collected from various sources that relate to Nigeria's poverty context. This includes blog posts, tweets, and Facebook posts from individuals with respect to the subject matter. In addition, it summarizes the outcomes of the analysis of the collected data in order to draw conclusions. A discussion of their potential implications is provided as well as reflections on how to use new media as a political and social tool in order to address Nigeria's poverty challenges.

# **CHAPTER 2: Research Methodology**

The purpose of this chapter is to provide an overview of qualitative research methods, emphasizing their benefits and limitations. It then provides an example of a qualitative research project, focusing on the analysis of interview data. This chapter aims to give an overview of qualitative research methods, highlighting the advantages and disadvantages of using this type of research (André Queirós, Faria, & Almeida, 2017). It will also provide an example of a qualitative research project, with a particular focus on how to analyze interview data. Qualitative research is a type of research that involves collecting, interpreting, and analyzing data in the form of words, images, or sounds. It is often used to explore complex social phenomena, such as people's attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors. One of the main benefits of qualitative research is that it allows researchers to gain a deep, rich, and nuanced understanding of the experiences and perspectives of their research participants (André Queirós, Faria, & Almeida, 2017). However, it can also have some limitations, such as the difficulty of generalizing findings to a broader population and the subjectivity of the researcher's interpretation of the data. By understanding these benefits and limitations, researchers can make informed decisions about whether qualitative research is the appropriate method for their particular research question (Williams, 2007).

Qualitative research methodology is a type of research method used to gather and analyze non-numerical data, such as words, images, and observations. This type of research is often used to explore and understand people's experiences, perceptions, motivations, and behaviors. The qualitative research approach is useful for understanding the deeper meaning behind complex social phenomena. Its focus on words and meanings allows researchers to gain insights into the lived experiences of individuals and explore the nuances of ideas, thoughts, and feelings (André Queirós, Faria, & Almeida, 2017). Qualitative research can be used to explore topics such as beliefs and values, motivations, decision-making, and behavior. It is also useful for uncovering the complexities of social processes, relationships, and structures. Qualitative research can be used to identify patterns and trends, as well as to understand the meanings and implications of those patterns and trends. By using interviews,

focus groups, observational studies, and other methods, qualitative researchers can gain a deep understanding of the topics they are studying (Williams, 2007).

It is based on the understanding that reality is constructed from the interactions between people and their environment. Qualitative research ontology suggests that reality is made up of individual perspectives and is unique to each person (Williams, 2007). It is based on the idea that each person's experiences are unique and that these experiences cannot be fully understood by any one individual. Qualitative research ontology recognizes that individuals create their own realities and that it is through their interactions with each other and their environment that these realities are formed (Seale, 2004). Qualitative research ontology also suggests that knowledge is created through the process of dialogue and negotiation between individuals and that a holistic understanding of reality can only be achieved by allowing individuals to express their perspectives and experiences.

Triangulation is a technique used in qualitative research to increase the validity and reliability of the findings. It involves using multiple methods or sources of data to study a phenomenon, with the aim of generating more complete and accurate insights (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014). For example, a researcher studying the experiences of the poor population in relation to the media and the government setting may use triangulation by collecting data from interviews with media personnel, and Nigerian citizens, observations of the media companies, and analysis of media reports. By combining these different sources of data, the researcher can gain a more comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon being studied (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014). Triangulation can help to validate the findings of a study by providing multiple perspectives on the same issue and by detecting any inconsistencies or discrepancies in the data.

The following factors contributed to my decision to use a qualitative approach:

- 1. Qualitative research methods provide a more in-depth and detailed understanding of a phenomenon, allowing for a richer and more nuanced analysis.
- 2. These methods allow researchers to explore complex and multi-faceted issues, such as attitudes, beliefs, and experiences, in their natural contexts.
- 3. Qualitative research methods are well-suited to studying minority or marginalized groups, who may not be adequately represented in large-scale quantitative studies.
- 4. These methods can provide valuable insights into the underlying meanings and motivations behind people's actions and behaviors.
- 5. Qualitative research methods are flexible and adaptable, allowing researchers to modify their approach and methods as the study progresses. This can be particularly useful in studies where the research question or focus may evolve over time.

#### 2.2 Desk Research

Desk research, also known as secondary research, is a method of collecting data by reviewing existing sources rather than collecting new data through primary research methods. Desk research techniques include scanning through existing resources such as books, magazines, newspapers, websites, and databases to collect data (Hoover Green & Cohen, 2020). It also includes analyzing the data collected from existing sources to draw meaningful conclusions and insights. The researcher must be well-versed in the research methodology and possess the ability to identify the right sources for the required data. Furthermore, the researcher must also be able to interpret the data to draw meaningful insights. Finally, the researcher must be able to put the collected data into a report or presentation format (Hoover Green & Cohen, 2020).

To use desk research to collect data on poverty issues in Nigeria, you can begin by identifying relevant sources of information, such as government reports, academic studies, news articles, and other published materials. You can then review these sources and extract relevant data on poverty in Nigeria, such as statistics on poverty rates, causes of poverty, and efforts to combat poverty. You can also use desk research to gather information on poverty-related policies and programs in Nigeria, as well as the perspectives and experiences of individuals and communities affected by poverty (Mebawondu, Mebawondu, Atsanan, & Suleiman, 2012). By carefully reviewing and synthesizing this information, you can gain a better understanding of the poverty situation in Nigeria.

#### 2.3 Observational Studies

This is another common method of qualitative research. These involve observing participants in their natural environment in order to gain insight into their behaviors and experiences. Observational studies can be conducted in a variety of settings, such as in homes, classrooms, or workplaces. Observational studies are useful for exploring complex social dynamics and gaining an in-depth understanding of how people interact with each other and their environment (Rosenbaum, 2010). Observational studies involve observing and recording the behavior and actions of individuals or groups in their natural environments. To use observational studies to identify the media politics in Nigeria, you can begin by identifying a sample of media outlets, such as newspapers, television networks, and online platforms, to observe. You can then use various observation techniques, such as participant observation, structured observation, or content analysis, to collect data on the media in Nigeria. For example, you could observe and record the types of stories and news coverage that are provided by the media outlets, the perspectives and opinions that are expressed, and the ways in which the media outlets interact with government officials and other political actors (Rosenbaum, 2010). By carefully analyzing my observations, you can gain a better understanding of media politics in Nigeria and identify any trends or patterns in the way that the media covers political issues.

#### 2.4 Document Analysis

Finally, document analysis is a qualitative research method involving the analysis of written documents such as reports, diaries, and other sources of written information (Bowen, 2009). This method can be used to gain an understanding of how people communicate, how policies are formulated, and how organizations operate. Document analysis is a useful method for exploring the historical context of a particular phenomenon and understanding the motivations and influences behind people's behavior. Document analysis is a method of collecting data by reviewing written or printed materials, such as reports, documents, or other published sources (Bowen, 2009). To use document analysis to collect data on media politics and poverty reduction reports in Nigeria, you can begin by identifying relevant sources of information, such as government reports on poverty reduction efforts, media reports on political issues, and academic studies on the relationship between media and poverty in Nigeria. You can then carefully review these sources and extract relevant data, such as statistics on poverty rates, information on poverty reduction programs and policies, and analyses of media coverage of poverty-related issues. By synthesizing this information, you can gain a better understanding of the role of the media in poverty reduction efforts in Nigeria and identify any trends or patterns in the way that the media covers these issues.

Glenn Bowen's Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method is a comprehensive and in-depth exploration of the use of document analysis as a qualitative research method. Bowen argues that document analysis is an invaluable research tool for qualitative researchers, as it can provide them with access to a wide range of data that would otherwise be difficult to obtain. He also outlines the various techniques that can be used to analyze documents, and how these techniques can be used to uncover valuable insights about a particular subject or topic. In addition, Bowen provides a number of practical examples of how to document analysis has been used in various research contexts. Ultimately, this book provides a comprehensive overview of the use of document analysis as a qualitative research

method and is an essential resource for researchers interested in exploring this research method.

I followed these steps to collect data using document analysis, especially in the complex Nigerian media politics and poverty reduction reports landscape. From Glenn Bowen's journal, Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method.

- 1. Define the scope of the analysis: Before beginning the document analysis, it is important to define the scope of the analysis. For example, this could include defining the type of documents to be analyzed (e.g. media reports, poverty reduction reports, government documents, etc.), the time period of the documents to be analyzed, and the geographic area in Nigeria to be included in the analysis.
- 2. Identify and gather relevant documents: Once the scope has been defined, the next step is to identify and collect relevant documents for the analysis. This may involve searching online databases, contacting relevant organizations, or conducting fieldwork to obtain documents that are not easily accessible online.
- 3. Categorize the documents: After gathering the documents, they should be categorized in order to begin the analysis. This could be done by using predetermined categories, or by creating categories based on the content of the documents.
- 4. Analyze the documents: The next step is to analyze the documents. This could involve looking for patterns or trends in the data, or exploring how different actors are portrayed in the documents.
- 5. Present the findings: Once the analysis has been completed, the findings should be presented in a clear and concise manner. This could involve creating tables, graphs, or other visual aids to make the data easier to understand.

In conclusion, qualitative research is an invaluable tool for gaining insight into the complexities of human behavior and experiences. Qualitative research methods provide an in-depth understanding of topics that cannot be measured quantitatively and can be used to explore the underlying causes and meanings of behavior or experiences (Bowen, 2009).

This chapter has discussed the different types of qualitative research methods and their advantages over traditional quantitative methods. However, qualitative research also has some limitations. It can be time-consuming and resource-intensive, and the results may not be generalizable to the broader population. Additionally, the subjective nature of qualitative data can make it difficult to draw concrete conclusions or make definitive statements.

Despite these limitations, qualitative research methodology remains an important and valuable tool for researchers. By providing a deeper understanding of people's experiences and perspectives, it can help researchers to develop new insights and theories, and to inform policy and practice.

# 2.5 Limitations of Qualitative Research in this study

First, qualitative research can be time-consuming and expensive. Qualitative research is often more costly and time-consuming than quantitative research (André Queirós, Faria, & Almeida, 2017). It requires more resources to gather published in-depth interviews, analyze data, and interpret results. Additionally, qualitative research often involves multiple rounds of data collection, which can add to the time and expense. Qualitative research can also be more labor-intensive than quantitative research, as it often requires more involved interviews and analysis (although no interviews were conducted in this study). Despite the increased cost and time involved, qualitative research can provide invaluable insights into the underlying motivations, behaviors, and values of consumers, making it a critical component of any successful research strategy. Gathering secondary data for the poverty crisis in Nigeria can be time-consuming for a number of reasons. One reason is that there may be a lack of readily available data on the issue.

In order to gather the necessary data, researchers may need to search through multiple sources, including government reports, academic studies, and media articles (Bowen, 2009. This can be a lengthy process, especially if the data is not easily accessible or organized in a way that makes it easy to find. Another reason that gathering secondary data for the poverty crisis in Nigeria may be time-consuming is that the data may be outdated or incomplete. It is important to ensure that the data being used is accurate and relevant to the current situation, which may require verifying the sources and checking for updates. Finally, analyzing and interpreting the data can also be time-consuming, as it may require sorting through large amounts of information and identifying trends and patterns (Goodwin & Goodwin, 2020). Overall, while gathering secondary data can be an important aspect of understanding and addressing the poverty crisis in Nigeria, it can be a time-consuming process due to the various challenges involved in finding and analyzing the data.

Second, qualitative research is often based on small samples, which can limit the generalizability of the results (Payne & Williams, 2005). The challenge of generalizability, as the findings from qualitative studies, are typically based on small, non-representative samples and may not be applicable to the broader population. Qualitative research is often based on small models because the research is highly focused on understanding the experiences, perspectives, and behaviors of individuals within a particular context. This type of research is often used to gain a deeper understanding of a particular issue, and it relies on the researcher's ability to draw out meaningful information from the participants (Payne & Williams, 2005). The small sample size limits the generalizability of the results to the broader population, but it can still provide valuable insights into the Nigerian poor population as represented by the media. Additionally, qualitative research can provide more detailed information on a particular topic than quantitative research, which is often based on larger samples but can be less helpful in understanding the complexities of a specific context. In the context of finding data between the media and the poverty crisis in Nigerian society, using small samples in qualitative research may limit the generalizability of the results. It is

important to consider this limitation when interpreting the findings and to be cautious about applying the results to the larger population.

While the results may be useful in exploring the particular relationship between media and poverty, the data gathered from a small sample may not accurately represent the larger population of Nigerian citizens. As such, the findings may be limited in terms of providing a comprehensive understanding of the issue. It is important to note that in order to gain a better understanding of the media and poverty crisis in Nigerian society, a larger and more diverse sample size should be used in order to represent the different socio-economic and demographic backgrounds of Nigerian citizens.

One way to address this limitation is to try to maximize the diversity of my sample by including a range of participants with different backgrounds, experiences, and perspectives. This can help to ensure that my findings are more representative of the larger population (Payne & Williams, 2005). Another option is to triangulate my data by using multiple data sources or methods. For example, you might combine in-depth interviews with media analysis or participant observation to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship between media and poverty.

Overall, it's important to be transparent about the limitations of my study and to carefully consider how they may affect the validity and generalizability of my findings. Additionally, quantitative research methods such as surveys and experiments may be useful in gathering more comprehensive data on the issue.

Third, qualitative data can be difficult to interpret and analyze (André Queirós, Faria, & Almeida, 2017). The subjectivity of the data, as qualitative research is often based on subjective experiences and interpretations, which can be difficult to verify or replicate. It may be difficult to accurately and objectively analyze large amounts of qualitative data. These limitations can make it challenging to draw definitive conclusions or make reliable predictions based on the findings of qualitative research on poverty in Nigeria. Qualitative

research is often subjective and open to researcher bias. Qualitative research relies heavily on the researcher's interpretation of the data, which can be influenced by the researcher's prior knowledge, experiences, and personal biases. This can be especially true in Nigerian politics and poverty reduction reports by the media, where the researcher's own cultural, political, and economic background can influence their interpretation of the data.

A researcher's subjectivity affects research in many ways, including personal experience, perspectives, and biases. Research questions, data collection, analysis, and interpretation may be influenced by the researcher's values and beliefs (Brink, 1993). Cultural, political, and economic backgrounds may also influence a researcher's interpretation of the data and their understanding of the issues. It is important to be aware of the potential for subjectivity in research and to try to minimize its impact as much as possible. This can be done by engaging in the reflexive practice, which involves reflecting on your own values, beliefs, and assumptions and how they may influence your research. It can also be helpful to involve multiple researchers in the analysis process and to use a range of data sources and methods in order to triangulate the data and reduce the potential for subjectivity.

Furthermore, the subjective nature of qualitative research makes it more difficult to draw concrete conclusions and ensure accuracy and objectivity. Additionally, the lack of clear, standardized procedures and methods in qualitative research can also lead to researcher bias. This means that the data collected on the topic is based on the perspective and experiences of the people involved, and is likely to be biased and open to interpretation (Brink, 1993). In other words, the data is likely to be subjective and not necessarily reflective of the 'real' situation. Moreover, since the media is one of the main sources of information on the topic, the data is likely to be heavily influenced by the media's interpretation of the issue. As a result, the data may not reflect the true nature of the poverty situation in Nigeria.

Fourth, it can be difficult to establish the reliability and validity of qualitative data (Brink, 1993). The reliability and validity of Nigerian articles and social media reports for academic research are generally low. This is due to a number of factors, such as a lack of quality

control and peer review, an absence of checks to ensure accuracy, and a lack of oversight and regulation of the sources used. Additionally, the lack of reliable data on poverty, the poor access to education and health services, the limited access to financial services, and the limited access to reliable sources of income make it difficult to accurately measure poverty in Nigeria. Furthermore, the lack of reliable poverty statistics at the local level, as well as the lack of data on the social and economic impact of poverty on individuals and communities, make it difficult to accurately assess the extent and depth of poverty in Nigeria. As a result, any research based on these sources should be treated with extreme caution and should be verified with other sources and studies.

Ultimately, the lack of reliable data on poverty in Nigeria makes it difficult to effectively target poverty-alleviation policies and measure the effectiveness of such policies. In order to improve the accuracy of poverty measurements in Nigeria, there must be improved data collection and analysis, better quality control and peer review, and more effective regulation of the sources used in poverty studies.

It is important to be aware of potential bias and contextual issues that could influence the results. To ensure the reliability and validity of these sources, I must take the time to review the sources for accuracy and bias. Identifying the authority of a source is the first step for researchers. Does the author have a reputation as an expert in the field? Can they be trusted as sources of information? Is it a report of facts or an opinion? The information presented should also be assessed for accuracy. Do other reliable sources support the information cited? Can you confirm that the facts are correct and up-to-date? Researchers should also consider whether the source may be biased. Is there a vested interest in the results of the research? Is there a potential conflict of interest with the source? Taking the time to review articles and social media reports for accuracy, authority, and potential bias will help researchers ensure the validity and reliability of their findings.

## 2.6 Ethical Consideration

Despite the fact that many ethical considerations apply to all forms of research, including desk research, there are some specific ethical concerns that may arise. Data sets and published materials are among the ethical considerations of desk research (Roberts, 2015). For researchers to use these materials ethically and responsibly, they must obtain permission to use them responsibly. It may involve obtaining permission from the original authors or publishers, respecting intellectual property rights, and properly citing sources. Desk research also involves the potential for bias or misrepresentation of information in the sources being reviewed. In order to accurately represent the information in these sources, researchers must avoid cherry-picking data or selectively interpreting the information to support their own biases.

Including references in my thesis is an important way to acknowledge the work of others, support my arguments and claims, and provide evidence for my ideas. Following Roberts (2015), I took a few key steps to ensure that I effectively used references in my thesis.

- Identify the sources I need: Before I started writing, it's important to identify the sources I will need to support my arguments and claims. This might include academic papers, books, reports, and other types of materials.
- Cite my sources in the text: As I write my thesis, make sure to include in-text citations whenever I refer to or quote from a source. These citations should include the author's name and the year of publication and should be placed within the text of my document.
- Create a reference list: At the end of my thesis, create a list of all the sources I have cited in my work. This list should be organized alphabetically by author's last name and should include all the information necessary to locate the source.

- Use a citation style guide: There are many different citation styles that I can use in my theses, such as APA, MLA, and Chicago. Make sure to choose a style guide and follow it consistently throughout my thesis to ensure that my references are formatted correctly.
- By following these steps, I can effectively use references in my thesis to support my arguments, acknowledge the work of others, and provide evidence for my ideas.

### 2.7 Summary

In conclusion, qualitative research is a valuable method for exploring complex social issues like poverty and media interest in poverty in Nigeria. Qualitative research can provide a deeper understanding of the lived experiences of people living in poverty, their motivations, and the challenges they face. This can help to identify the underlying causes of poverty and inform the development of strategies to address it. Qualitative research can also provide insight into how media coverage of poverty in Nigeria impacts public opinion, and how it can be used to drive public policy. Qualitative research can also provide an in-depth understanding of how poverty is experienced differently in different parts of the country and how it is linked to broader social, economic, and political dynamics.

Through qualitative research, we can identify patterns, trends, and insights that can help us better understand the complex dynamics of poverty and media coverage of poverty in Nigeria. By considering the voices and experiences of people living in poverty and those who report on it, we can gain a more nuanced and complete understanding of these issues and work towards more effective and just solutions. Qualitative research can help us understand how poverty is experienced and perceived in Nigeria, including how it is represented in media coverage. We can analyze media reports to identify the ways in which poverty is framed, the types of voices that are included or excluded, and the types of stories that are told. We can also use interviews to gather detailed information about the lived experiences of people in poverty, including their perspectives on media coverage. By

engaging with people in poverty, we can gain a deeper understanding of the challenges they face, how media coverage may be perpetuating stereotypes and stigma, and how we can work to create more equitable and just solutions.

In conclusion, qualitative research has the potential to make a significant contribution to our understanding of poverty and media coverage of poverty in Nigeria and can help inform policy and practice that aims to address these important social issues. So, it is an important method for understanding and addressing poverty and media interest in poverty in Nigeria. This chapter provided an overview of qualitative research methods, including the benefits and limitations of qualitative research. An example qualitative research project was presented, along with a discussion of some of the ethical considerations of conducting qualitative research.

# **CHAPTER 3 - Public Sphere Theory**

In this chapter, we examine the idea of new media as a public sphere in the context of poverty discourse. As a public sphere, new media provide a platform for sharing information, expressing different points of view, and challenging the government. In the context of the new media, the public sphere may be viewed as, as a metaphor, a space where citizens can come together, exchange their views on issues facing society, debate, and ultimately, form public opinions about these issues. Our society today is dominated by digital media, which plays a significant role in all aspects of our lives. In contemporary society, however, the public sphere is no longer defined by one single place but rather consists of a variety of places. It is a synthesis of a mix of physical places and online media (Benyon, 2014). It is important to point out that even though there is no fixed place or space in which the concept of the public sphere can be cited, the new media are clearly a crucial element in it even if it does not mean referring to a certain location. It can be said that there is a unified ecology of the new media known as the public sphere, and that includes places like online news and social media sites, as well as the blogging space. It is not an exaggeration to state that the media plays a vital role in shaping public opinion, and that, at times, it also plays a significant role in shaping political policy as well.

However, the public sphere is not static; it has been modified and redefined over time in response to changes in society. For example, the rise of the mass media in the 20th century led to a redefinition of the public sphere, as the media became a space where the public could come together to discuss and debate issues (Castells, 2008). Habermas' public sphere is analyzed, along with its critique based on a number of ideologies that are applicable to contemporary life, as well as its central themes. Having presented a variety of criticisms leveled at his work, a focus on the theoretical connections between the Public Sphere and some critical ideologies, including Marxism, Capitalism, and Feminist Theory. Different perspectives and modifications of the public sphere can be viewed through the lens of these ideologies. The public sphere can also be viewed through the lens of different ideologies. For example, Marxist theory sees the public sphere as a site of class struggle, while liberal theory

sees it as a space where reason and debate can lead to progress (Jessop & Calhoun, 1993). According to revisionist scholarly studies, Habermas' public sphere is more idealized than actual (Eley, 1992).

## 3.1 The Habermasian Public Sphere

Jürgen Habermas, a German social theorist, is the most renowned proponent of a normative framework for the public sphere. Historically, Jergen Habermas's work, The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere, has been the basis for developing a radically democratic society that is based on the concept of the public sphere. Habermas described the public sphere as a virtual community that has no fixed physical location. He noted that Public Sphere is "made up of private people gathered together as a public and articulating the needs of society with the state". Coffee houses, literary societies, and the development of the press helped to create a public sphere during the 18th century. It is believed that the concept of a public sphere emerged during the Renaissance in Western Europe, in which people could engage in discussions and debates concerning public issues. Habermas theorizes that there were two manifestations of the "public" or "public sphere" during the Ancien Régime. When monarchies began to take over power from feudal lords during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, this change first became evident. This political shift, according to Habermas, led to a new distinction between the "public" and "private" domains. The concept of "public" has become synonymous with "state" which is monopolistic and bureaucratic. Conversely, "private" served as a sphere for those without official positions and were therefore excluded from certain power structures. Habermas argues that a second "public sphere" emerged in the late 17th century amidst the clash between state and society. Both France and Britain underwent a transition from feudal to bourgeois societies, and from feudal to bourgeois liberal constitutional systems. Habermas argues that the bourgeois public sphere enabled bourgeois values previously encapsulated in the private realm to be articulated in the public sphere.

Because public and private spheres have varying meanings in different social contexts, they are generally called "public/private dichotomies" (Condren 2009). The division between

public and private in Greek philosophy illustrates the two spheres of society. The polis, according to Habermas (1962, 1989: 3), was strictly separated from the oikos. polis is described as a public sphere in which free individuals interact openly; oikos refers to hidden action between free individuals (see Habermas [1962] 1989:3). In other words, oikos refers to the household or domestic sphere, which is associated with private life, family, and personal relationships. Polis refers to the city or community, which is associated with public life, politics, and social organization. These terms are often used to describe the relationship between the private and public spheres in the context of the public sphere. The oikos is seen as the realm of the personal and the intimate, while the polis is seen as the realm of the public and the political. The two spheres are seen as interconnected and interdependent, and they are thought to influence each other in various ways.

Domestic and social spheres can also be considered private and public spheres within society. It is possible that this type of separation is contentious and supports male-dominated views. Feminist theories depict this type of separation as restricting women to domestic spheres. This chapter will discuss some of these ideologies.

#### He noted:

The bourgeois public sphere may be conceived above all as the sphere of private people come together as a public; they soon claimed the public sphere regulated from above against the public authorities themselves, to engage them in a debate over the general rules governing relations in the basically privatized but publicly relevant sphere of commodity exchange and social labor. The medium of this political confrontation was peculiar and without historical precedent: people's public use of their reason.

# 3.2 Habermas Definition of the Public Sphere: A Critical Examination

The Habermasian public sphere has been critically critiqued in a variety of ways (for example, Garnham (1992), Calhoun (1992a), Kellner (2000), Johnson (2001), Susen (2011),

and Ziolkowski-Trzak (2013)). However, some writers tend to focus on a single aspect of it, which we will discuss here. Plunder, gender inequality, the degeneration of the public sphere, and the replacement of argument and rationality with rhetoric have all been criticized as factors contributing to its degeneration. (Habermas, 1984, 1992 &, 2006; Susen, 2010; Thompson, 1995). The plundering of natural resources, privatization of public services, and the commodification of public goods are all seen as factors contributing to the degeneration of the public sphere. It has been argued in particular that these are related to the rise of corporate power and the concentration of wealth in the hands of a few individuals. Citizens' access to resources and services has been particularly damaged by the privatization of public services, while the commodification of public goods has eroded the public good. Rather than being treated as collective resources to be shared, goods and services are increasingly treated as commodities (Feng, 2001).

Habermas is often credited with idealizing the bourgeois public sphere when it was deeply exclusionary and participation was limited. Habermas acknowledges in his writing that he presents a "stylized picture of liberal elements of bourgeois public life" (Habermas 1989a, p. xix). In his 1992 work, Habermas clarified that he was establishing what he called an "ideal type" rather than a normative ideal. Habermas's ideal type of the public sphere is based on two main principles. First, the public sphere is a domain of our social life where such a thing as public opinion can be formed. Second, access to the public sphere is open to all citizens. Habermas argues that the public sphere is "a realm of our social life where such a thing as public opinion can be formed... [and]... a domain where citizens deal with matters of general interest without being subject to coercion; where they can freely assemble and express and publicize their opinions."

Moreover, contemporary scholars have criticized the idea of idealizing the Habermasian Public Sphere. Many scholars have criticized Habermas' public sphere for its views on contemporary communication, democratic politics, and socio-cultural life (notably in this age of digitalization). It is one of the major assumptions of the public sphere model that public discourse should be rational, impartial, and objective in nature. Consequently, emotions,

partiality, passions, and subjectivity are unwelcome in this process. Especially in light of the increased use of digital and social media in recent years, these rigid boundaries have been challenged in an unprecedented way. A more emotional and social media-centric approach can now be taken in order to address the role of subjectivity in the expression of the common good as well as challenging Habermas' rational-critical assumptions and the role that subjectivity plays in articulating the common good.

Historically, this transition has been referred to as the "emotional turn". It is crucial to understand the public sphere in the media system from the standpoint of the "emotional turn.". The "emotional turn" refers to the shift in the public sphere towards a greater emphasis on emotions and personal experiences. This transition has been influenced by the rise of social media and other digital technologies, which have allowed individuals to share their personal stories and emotions more easily and widely. In Wahl-Jorgensen's view, social media participation and public debates are often characterized by emotional responses, such as attachment, hope, anger, and hatred (Wahl-Jorgensen, 2019). These emotional responses can be used to articulate collective grievances and to effect social change, such as reducing poverty.

Alexander (2006) challenges Habermas' assumptions that speaking, deliberating, or performing in the public sphere leads to idealizing principles of rational discussion and deliberation. Habermas sees the public sphere as a space for rational debate, whereas Alexander views it as a space for social performance. Alexander (2006) argues that a civil public sphere is best characterized by solidarity and respect for others, rather than by rationality. He sees the public sphere as a place where individuals can share their experiences and emotions, and where social bonds can be strengthened through solidarity and mutual respect.

A second argument is that Habermas assumes the possibility of free and transparent discourse, which leads to an idealization of public opinion. In addition to this, it forms a critical point of view in terms of both critical social theory and a truly democratic political

practice that places a high value on the public sphere. Communication conditions in public spheres are rarely idyllic, neither are they balanced spaces for debate nor competitive environments (Morley & Robins, 1997). To challenge digital communication, bureaucracy, and dominant ideologies, public spheres may engage both informal/spontaneous and formal/structured mechanisms at the same time. Social media sites facilitate the sharing of influence in a similar way.

By reading Habermas's discussion of democratizing the public sphere and civil society, one can engage in a sufficient discussion of the public sphere and democracy. People interact face-to-face or through mass media to reach a consensus in public spheres. As a result of our versatile and heavily networked cultures, social media networks have become an essential part of the public sphere (Cela, 2015). On the contrary, the Internet offers a diverse range of conversational norms, as in other domains such as mass media and face-to-face engagement (Kapoor et al., 2017). Therefore, the Internet as a public space does not make any sense (Barns, 2017).

Public Opinion is used in this study to demonstrate how Habermas' revised public domain framework facilitates freedom of expression, a fundamental right in a democracy. They contribute to the success of present society's democratic goals (economic and social rights), including the right to health, adequate housing, food, safe drinking water, and education. Livingstone & Lunt (2013) argue that the public sphere facilitates citizen involvement in politics by engaging citizens in rational discourse about societal issues. In today's ever-expanding world, public sovereignty relies on communication. In other words, it signifies a new era of sovereignty. Without a public sphere that allows democratic oversight, the state cannot effectively mediate with society. It may seem naive to assume that democracy can consolidate power.

Are Habermas' definitions applicable to internet communication? By eroding democracy, the public sphere, integrity, social responsibility, money, and power are Habermas's "dominant media." Media power includes controlling content and trying to influence public opinion.

There is an argument that asymmetric power relations (social, economic, political, and media power) distort public communication dynamics. According to Castells (2009), power is not in the hands of the media per se, but in the hands of the media's power brokers. Media cannot exert power alone, as they also rely heavily on powerful communities for support. Power dynamics play out in media. Friedland, Hove, and Rojas (2014) argue that Habermas' public sphere concept has been drastically altered by new economic, social, and technological innovations. Globalization and network society have led to a new social organization (Castells 2008, 79).

Using modern technology, we can now connect and establish bonds with many more people than we ever could in the past. It remains likely that social media networks will lead to misinformation and manipulation because of their multiple divisions. Concerns arise that the internet may not fulfill the public sphere's essential functions. A Habermas view of the Internet is that it divides a consolidated audience further into distinct groups, each focusing on a particular issue (Rasmussen, 2009). Although this may be true, we can also debate their validity. In Habermas' view, the Internet merely fragments specific audiences into isolated issue public. Wendelin & Meyen (2009) suggest Habermas simply did not understand the multitude of discourses available online today.

Digital media have created questions about the vitality of the public sphere in the digital age. As shown in Janssen and Kies (2005) and Rasmussen (2009), some scholars believe that public sphere theory still needs finer tuning in order to be truly effective. Due to the possibility of an online network society, they developed a revised concept of the public sphere, which revolves around networks with the proliferation of information technology. Various ideas resulted from this focus, including the Networked Public Sphere (NPS) and the Virtual Public Sphere (Papacharissi 2002). NPSs (Networked Public Spheres) are emerging as an alternative medium with tremendous potential

Using information to mediate collective action. Digital media are increasingly influencing Nigerian politics. Although new technologies can serve as a public sphere, they can also

constrain public opinion. Inequities exist in access to data and the ability to use technology in a way that compromises the performance of the virtual world. The Internet has enabled communication between people around the world, but it can also lead to political controversies. It includes false news, inaccurate claims, and associated ideas.

Digital propaganda is more recent than classical propaganda. In addition to objective truth, an argument is largely judged by its emotional appeal. In general, fake news involves misinformation, fabrication, or omission. It can be classified as fake news if it contains propaganda, satire, parodies, press releases, and photoshopped images. Due to the ambiguity of the term fake news, the European Commission has refused to use it in its reports. Instead, it uses the term disinformation (House of Commons, 2019). History is filled with fake news. The practice of information manipulation has been around longer than social media and modern journalism.

As technology can be gradually integrated into existing cultures, rather than creating new ones. However, whether the internet creates genuine public opinion is beyond its control. In Further Reflections, Habermas argues that non-profit organizations, trade unions, social movements, and churches can counter or change government messages. This prevented the state from exercising its power illegally. You can control the state through the power of public opinion and through the control of official elections. Government should not be allowed to sway public opinion or influence it in any way. Online discussions are less beneficial than in-person discussions. According to Habermas, media lacks equal, face-to-face interaction and reciprocity between speakers and recipients.

To achieve maximum impact, mass communication relies on the self-regulatory media system, which can choose and polarize information selectively. In Nigerian society, poverty and illiteracy are extreme factors that make the majority of people insignificant and disempower them. The populace is unaware of their role in public debates, making participation in state policymaking difficult. Many scholars have attempted to understand the

influence of public opinion on public policy regarding financial equality, but they have not been successful (Obo et al, 2014).

In a democratic society, this topic is crucial. Because citizens have little influence over government policy decisions. Many citizens are unaware of their right to participate in public policy decisions (Milton, 2011; Stimson, 2014), and those who are aware perceive it as irrelevant (Obo and Obo, 2013). Consequently, a lot of government policies were not reflecting the views of the people, so the government could not deliver the outcomes it was expected to. Considering the Internet's advantages and disadvantages in the public sphere, it is extremely important to analyze both.

Dahlgren (2005) argues that the internet broadens perspectives and participation, but it complicates the understanding of political public spheres. Individualism and societal culture have melted with the new media, according to Habermas. In other words, as the state and society merged, the private sphere also disintegrated. Powerful media outlets can undermine society's critical nature, reducing most of us to passive listeners or consumers. Literature, salons, and cafes are no longer venues for rational-critical discussions, as they once were. It is closely aligned with participatory democracy, according to Habermas, which constitutes a democratic principle. Herbamas never addressed the social contract of Emmanuel Kant in his writings, which provides the reasoning behind this. According to Herbamas, public opinion is not a form of participatory democracy. Despite Habermas' theories of bourgeois public life, democratic politics never thrived (Apostolopoulou, 2019). Public issues are consumed, discussed, and reacted to constantly. The general public opinion has not changed with these new developments. Online political participation has also grown in popularity over the past few years due to the internet. In addition, they are affecting the traditional Public Sphere in an unprecedented way. In the past and today, the public sphere has been exclusively dependent on communication. A public sphere is generally considered to be a place where opinions can be expressed, issues can be discussed, and solutions can be developed through communication.

Roberts, Farris, and Benjamin shed light on the changing public sphere and how right-wing media is becoming more vigilant about disinformation and publicity (Benkler, Farris, and Roberts 2018, 8). It was found that social media present an entirely new kind of public space, marked by diversity, overproduction of information, and a reductive approach to politics (Bayer et al., 2019:59-60).

# 3.3 Liberal, Capitalist, Marxist & Feminist Viewpoints on Public Sphere

## 3.3.1 Liberal View

Generally, liberal theories conceive of the public sphere as a place where individuals may freely act, so long as the action does not hinder others from participating in public discourse. Jürgen Habermas supports this viewpoint. A number of brilliant theoretical and empirical works have been produced by Habermas on the public sphere in contemporary society (De Angelis, 2021). Inequality has increased exponentially, along with the expansion of elite power as a result of liberal democracy being heavily repressed and stripped of its promises. Even though it is becoming increasingly apparent that citizens feel increasingly away from the decisions that affect their lives, the global capitalist system is continuing to flourish and now has even more of an impact on politics than it has ever had before (Milner, 2021). Besides all of this, there has been an explosion of information in the digital age as well as unprecedented levels of connectivity over the last numerous years, and this is expected to continue for quite some time.

A liberal view of the public sphere emphasizes the importance of individual freedom and democracy in shaping public discourse and decision-making. Liberals argue that the public sphere, which is traditionally seen as a space for political and social discourse, is a crucial component of a free and democratic society. It allows individuals to express their opinions and engage in debate and deliberation, which helps to inform and shape public policy (Häussler, 2017). The #BringBackOurGirls campaign was actively promoted by Nigerian media outlets in 2014, following the abduction of over 200 schoolgirls by the terrorist group,

Boko Haram (Shearlaw, 2015). The campaign was used to rally support for the release of the girls and to put pressure on the Nigerian government to take action.

Liberals believe that the public sphere should be open, inclusive, and diverse and that all individuals should have an equal opportunity to participate in public discourse. They also argue that the public sphere should be protected from interference or control by the state or other powerful institutions, in order to ensure that it remains a space for free and open debate. The #NotTooYoungToRun campaign was pushed out by the Nigerian media in 2016 to advocate for the reduction of the age limit for political office from 40 years to 35 years. This campaign led to the successful passage of the Not Too Young To Run Bill by the Nigerian Senate in July 2018 (Africa Portal, 2017).

However, there is a significant difference between liberal and conservative views, namely that liberals believe the public sphere is a homogenous and normative space where people can put aside their prejudices and biases (Ferree, Gamson, Gerhards, & Rucht, 2002). Communication via mass media is often a means used by the public sphere to educate itself. In these scenarios, there is no doubt that there is the influence of the media, including television, radio, and newspapers, on the beliefs of people. According to many scholars, a public sphere can be understood as a place where diverse voices can be heard in public debates and where a variety of active citizenship practices can be promoted in society at large, both of which are often in conflict with each other (Adut, 2012). In Habermas' view, the mass media have been mutated into dominant capitalist organizations as a result of their mutual exploitation, which explains the emergence of dominant media (Häussler, 2017). It has fallen upon the media to play a more and more important role in influencing public opinion rather than only disseminating accurate news and information as is done in the past.

Though disputable, Habermas's work on the public sphere is founded on the liberal view that civil society must be legitimized by the state. Liberals had an ambivalent notion of what constitutes the public sphere. Liberals had an ambivalent notion of what constitutes the public sphere (Haas, 2004). Through a historical framework, bourgeois perception

rationalized the power of the state in the eighteenth century. It has been suggested that there might be a rational basis for the public sphere by liberals (Wendelin & Meyen, 2009). As a result of several revolts, the public sphere was reshaped in an entirely new way. There has been a rise in the public sphere as consensus has waned.

A liberal view of the public sphere emphasizes the importance of individual freedom, democracy, and equality in shaping public discourse and decision-making. It advocates for the protection of the public sphere from state and institutional interference, in order to ensure that it remains a space for open and inclusive debate (Adut, 2012).

There are, however, some who may be inclined to advocate a theory of fictitious public engagement (fake public), and may even believe that everyone in the public sphere is a member of a counterpublic. Fraser (2012) who criticizes this approach believes that it denies the existence of multiple voices in the public discourse that reflect diversity rather than uniformity. Power structures are undermined by contrapublics. This is done by encouraging the growth of opposition groups in the country. For these reasons, counterpublics have been appealing to radical activists, progressives, and Marxists alike for a long time. There are a number of theories in Nancy Fraser's work that are well known, including the counterpublic theory (Fraser, 2012). The #OurMumuDonDo campaign protested against the deteriorating state of the Nigerian economy and the lack of action taken by the government to fix the situation . This campaign was successful in drawing the attention of the government and led to the implementation of several economic reforms .

As Netaji Bose: "freedom is not given but freedom is taken". He argued that freedom is not just given but it must be taken because it can be lost once gained if not adequately protected by those who enjoy such freedoms (Financial Express, 2021). It implies that liberty is not granted by a higher authority, but instead must be actively pursued and defended. This is a core tenet of liberalism, which emphasizes individual rights and freedoms, and the responsibility of individuals to protect those rights. As long as people are not responsible for their actions, they cannot be expected to care about their liberties. In order to be responsible

citizens, Nigerians need to be better educated on their rights and responsibilities toward themselves, other citizens, and society as a whole. The journalist informs, enlightens, shapes public opinion, creates public awareness, stimulates debate, stimulates curiosity, holds authorities accountable, and monitors performance (Oyebola 2006:1). These are essential elements of a successful democracy. The journalists, however, have been accused of failing Nigerians for not fulfilling some or most of these roles, particularly with regard to corruption and the poverty debate; others argue that the government has failed Nigerians too because successive governments have not ensured adequate protection for press freedom since independence despite constitutional guarantees (Uwakwe 2010:9-10).

## 3.3.2 Capitalist View

A capitalist view of the public sphere emphasizes the role of the market in shaping public discourse and decision-making. Capitalists argue that the public sphere, which is traditionally seen as a space for political and social discourse, is influenced by economic and market forces (Papacharissi, 2002). These forces drive the flow of information and shape public opinion, and they are essential for the functioning of a market-based economy. The new media outlets in Nigeria are dominated by capitalist interests. Business moguls, politicians, and other individuals with access to substantial financial resources often use their wealth to control the narrative perpetuated by Nigerian media.

However, some capitalists believe that the public sphere should be open but competitive and that individuals and institutions should be able to freely express their opinions and engage in debate and deliberation (Papacharissi, 2002). They also argue that the public sphere should be subject to market forces, such as supply and demand, in order to ensure that it remains dynamic and responsive to the needs and preferences of consumers. Nigerian digital media often prioritize stories that align with the interests of their wealthy sponsors. This has resulted in a lack of balanced coverage of issues, with stories that favor the interests of the powerful often taking precedence over those that focus on the needs of the general public.

One example of capitalism in the public sphere is the influence of advertising and consumer culture on public discourse and decision-making (Papacharissi, 2002). In a market-based economy, companies and corporations use advertising to promote their products and services and to shape public opinion and consumer behavior. This can influence the topics and issues that are discussed in the public sphere, and the way that they are perceived and debated. Nigerian media outlets are heavily dependent on advertising revenue and often prioritize stories that will attract the attention of wealthy sponsors. This often results in a lack of coverage of important issues facing the country.

Companies may use advertising to create buzz around a new product or service, which can generate public interest and debate. This can lead to the emergence of new trends and fads, and to the popularity of certain ideas and perspectives. Advertising can also be used to shape public opinion on controversial issues, such as climate change or immigration, by presenting a particular perspective or argument in a compelling way. Broadly speaking, a capitalist view of the public sphere emphasizes the role of the market in shaping public discourse and decision-making. It advocates for the openness and competitiveness of the public sphere, and the influence of market forces on its functioning (Ferree, Gamson, Gerhards, & Rucht, 2002).

Frazer offers several commendable strategies for conceptualizing the public sphere in a capitalist society, but she fails to adequately incorporate its most abstract ideological form within her theoretical framework (Jessop & Calhoun, 1993). In Young's view, counterpublics are essential. In contrast to Habermas' homogeneous view of the public sphere, Young (1990) advocates a heterogeneous one in which one expects to encounter others with different perspectives, loyalties, and experiences.

Thus, notions are being created in the public sphere at a rapid pace. Social media, in particular, enable us to enter social and political spaces like those found in sports, music, film, and politics, but it also serves as a fetish covering over impotence and allowing us to understand ourselves as just data. Digital capitalism also involves the use of data and

algorithms to extract value from the online behavior and interactions of individuals and organizations. This can include the use of data mining and analytics to target advertisements, the use of machine learning to automate decision-making, and the use of digital platforms to facilitate the exchange of goods and services (Rivera, 2020).

The Nigerian government has used data to manipulate and control the Nigerian people in a number of ways. For example, the government has used data to target certain groups of people. This includes the use of data to identify individuals who are considered to be at risk of being involved in civil protests and then target them with surveillance and proactive policing. Additionally, the government has used data to influence public opinion, by manipulating the media and social media platforms to spread messages in support of the government's agenda (Horrigan & Rainie, 2015). Furthermore, the government has used data to monitor and control the population, by collecting information on citizens and using it to identify potential threats to national security

## 3.3.3 Marxist View

A Marxist view of the public sphere emphasizes the role of economic and class-based power in shaping public discourse and decision-making. Marxists argue that the public sphere, which is traditionally seen as a space for political and social discourse, is dominated by the ruling class, who use their economic and political power to control the flow of information and shape public opinion (Haas, 2004). This allows them to maintain their dominance and prevent the emergence of alternative perspectives and voices.

Marxists argue that the public sphere is not a neutral or democratic space, but rather a site of struggle and conflict between different classes and interests (Roberts, 2017). They advocate for the empowerment of the working class and marginalized groups, who they believe have the potential to challenge the dominance of the ruling class and create a more equitable and just society.

Despite its failure to explain the most abstract and simple ideological properties of capitalism on a universal level, Marxist theories do believe they have a role to play in understanding global commodities. The study by Roberts (2017) sheds light on a theoretically derived public sphere under capitalism, where at least two commodities owners possess distinct personalities that are also driven by the need to possess commodities. Their focus centered only on how the public sphere has shifted over the last decade in the twenty-first century, rather than how these insights described more abstract and contradictory aspects of the capitalist public sphere.

Without understanding these conceptual and superficially incompatible properties, one cannot understand how certain inherent contradictions of capitalism manifest themselves in concrete and everyday public spheres. In this regard, it will deduce some of the main abstract and ideological themes of the capitalist public sphere in order to understand its meaning (Roberts, 2017). Marxists view the commodity form as the starting point of their analysis of capitalism from an abstract and simplistic perspective. In all of Marx's writings, he highlights the importance of specifying an initial subject of the commodity that encompasses both the issues of cultural reproduction and change (Haas, 2004). It is nevertheless important to acknowledge Marx's metaphorical notion of the capitalist public sphere as a commodity. However, Kant, Hegel, and Marx were omitted from the original manuscript of the Structural Transformation. According to some sources, Habermas had a complex and ambivalent relationship with Marxism. He acknowledged Marx's influence on his own theory, but also criticized Marx's shortcomings and limitations. He also distanced himself from orthodox Marxism and its political implications

In Habermas' revised thesis, the discussion was added as a part of the revised thesis for publication. It is possible to apply the same analysis to all aspects of life experience which are liable to be commercialized in the future. Accordingly, it is altogether reasonable for Marxists to abstract from the world of commodities the main contradictions that can be found in public life in a capitalist society.

Marxism is a political and economic theory that proposes that society is divided into two classes: the bourgeoisie, or the capitalists who own the means of production, and the proletariat, or the working class who sell their labor for wages. According to Marxist theory, the bourgeoisie exploits the proletariat, creating a cycle of poverty and inequality.

Karl Marx criticized the bourgeois state in his works (Jessop, 2012). Criticizing not just its origin and class basis, but also the economic conditions that made it possible. He exposed the public sphere as bourgeois fabrication. As Marx argued, property owners exploit and deform the people around them. In order to solve these economic and social problems, Marx came up with the concept of the communist state. It was determined that the communist system would rewrite every aspect of socioeconomic life.

There is a presence of Marxism between the Nigerian media and the government. The media is often critical of the government and its policies, which is a result of Marxist ideology that seeks to challenge the status quo and promote radical change. In addition, the media has been used to spread Marxist ideas and challenge the existing system of power (Mayer, 2020). This has resulted in tension between the government and the media, as the government views the media as a threat to its power and control. Furthermore, the media has been used to spread awareness of the struggles of the working class and to raise awareness of inequality and injustice in Nigerian society.

On the other hand, Marxist influence by the media owners and the public in Nigeria has been evident in recent years. The media owners have used their influence to shape public opinions and attitudes, particularly in relation to the country's political and economic structure. They have sought to promote a Marxist-inspired approach to development, particularly in terms of the redistribution of wealth and the promotion of social justice. This has been seen in a number of ways, including the creation of a media landscape that is dominated by leftist media outlets and the promotion of Marxist-inspired policies by major political parties.

At the same time, the public in Nigeria has also become increasingly influenced by Marxist ideas. This is evidenced by the growing popularity of socialist and Marxist-inspired movements, such as the Occupy Nigeria and ENDSARS campaigns, which have seen their support base expand significantly in recent years. Additionally, Marxist ideas have also become increasingly popular among young people, who have been exposed to Marxist-inspired rhetoric through the media, social media, and various other channels. This has resulted in a growing number of people in Nigeria who are sympathetic to the ideas of Marxism and socialism.

Overall, Marxist influence by the media owners and the public in Nigeria is an important factor in the country's politics and development. It has helped to shape public discourse and has had a significant impact on the way the country is governed and the policies that are pursued. As such, it is likely to remain a major force in Nigerian society for the foreseeable future (Mayer, 2020).

Theoretically, a Marxist view of the public sphere emphasizes the importance of class struggle and economic power in shaping public discourse and decision-making. It advocates for the empowerment of marginalized groups and the creation of a more democratic and inclusive public sphere.

## 3.3.4 Feminist View

Gender inequality is seen as another factor contributing to the degeneration of the public sphere (Jessop & Calhoun, 1993). This can be seen in the way that women are often excluded from public life and denied access to public resources and services. This has been linked to the patriarchal structure of society, which has traditionally placed men in positions of power and authority. The replacement of argument and rationality with rhetoric is also seen as a factor contributing to the degeneration of the public sphere. This has been linked to the rise of populist politics and the rhetoric of fear and division that has become commonplace in public discourse. This has led to a decrease in meaningful dialogue and a greater focus on emotional appeals rather than rational arguments.

A feminist view on the public sphere emphasizes the importance of gender equality and women's participation in public life. Feminists argue that the public sphere, which is traditionally seen as a space for political and social discourse, has been dominated by men and has excluded the perspectives and voices of women (McLaughlin, 2020). This has resulted in a lack of representation and inclusion of women in decision-making and public policy. Feminists argue that the public sphere needs to be more inclusive and diverse and that women's voices and perspectives need to be heard and valued. They also advocate for the inclusion of marginalized voices and perspectives, such as those of racial and ethnic minorities, LGBTQ individuals, and people with disabilities.

As Simone (2014) points out, Habermas failed to include the non-liberal, non-bourgeois public as well as the competing public and follows the old precedent of excluding women from bourgeois public life by not including them. According to Herbamas' case, a number of counter-publics such as feminist movements were ignored. For many years, women have been oppressed in politics, the economy, and society. As a result of this, Godfrey and Berman (2019) stated that women in the United Kingdom and the United States have spent much of their time attempting to convince the world, particularly in the 19th and 20th centuries, that women's rights go beyond their roles as mothers and wives. In addition to new ideas generated by the feminist movement, new ideas weres also sparked in the public sphere during the early 19th century (1910-1950). Feminists focused on women's suffrage during that period. In addition to improving the political development of the country, their participation in public affairs will also improve public behaviors (Rampton, 2015). Nowadays, social media platforms allow women to participate in feminist conversations online, which is changing the public's perspective of feminism and promoting gender equality. As a great example of the digital public sphere, Twitter, Quora, and Reddit serve as great examples. Users from all over the world can interact with the website and answer questions posted. An issue brings society together in a similar way to a traditional public sphere. Various religious, cultural, economic, and educational factors influence attitudes toward women in Nigeria. The right to vote was granted to women in the south in 1960, but

in the north not until 1979. Islam is often blamed, however socioeconomic factors also contribute (British Council Nigeria, 2012).

Throughout his work, Habermas maintains that the existence of universal values is the only way to escape a constant struggle for selfish interests and a temporary equilibrium between interests (Habermas, 1989). In contrast, Fraser is a person who believes that identity is a crucial issue. He believes that particularistic values have no place in the general world. Habermas, however, embraces universality. Several reasons should be cited for why feminist social identities cannot be regarded as variations from universality, principally because the identity contrast between universalism and particularism does not hold up (Fraser, 1989). It is not that these different interests can be universalized in Habermas's sense which makes them legitimate bases for objections, but that the social struggle is about empowering all kinds of individuals in accordance with their own needs. Fraser defines a public sphere as a grouping of multiple publics that fall into several categories based on various criteria, including gender, power, class, gender, and occupation. It is important to recognize that different publics can have hegemonic relationships and that disadvantaged groups have developed subaltern counterpublics to counter this dominance. As feminists saw justice as a struggle for recognition, they found it invaluable within the public sphere notions. Fraser (2012) contends that the feminist argument is that men dominate the public sphere in disproportionate numbers, whereas women are marginalized and left out. In comparison to issues that dominate the public sphere, reproductive rights and equal pay rarely receive the same attention. Women have been excluded from the public sphere since the inception of feminist movements. Despite the fact that even the most liberal theorists hastily constructed their own justifications, women's struggle for public legitimacy required an understanding of how power and violence influenced secrecy.

Eventually, women were able to stop being invisible as a result of the ideals of the Public Sphere. The concept of the public sphere paved the way for a radical change in society where women had been denied equal rights for centuries Fraser (2012). The feminist perspective insists on recognizing gender as a central category and empowering feminists to engage in

political debates and utilize political agency. As a result, feminists became a part of public life rather than a part of it behind the scenes. Therefore, feminist theory offers a framework for resolving emancipation problems through purely concrete means. Aside from putting women's interests first, feminism also seeks to protect the interests of all women within a community. Women can find themselves and cope with ethical dilemmas through feminism, but this is not universal Fraser (2012). Through the exchange of ideas between Habermas and feminist theory, a more integrated approach to deliberative democracy and the public sphere has been developed. Overall, a feminist view on the public sphere emphasizes the need for greater gender equality and inclusion in public life, and the importance of ensuring that all voices are heard and valued.

Finally, there is the problem of patriarchy (Uchendu .E., 2022). Even though Nigeria has made some progress in terms of gender equality, the patriarchal system of power and privilege continues to exist in many areas of life. This is a major obstacle to the advancement of women's rights and the realization of gender equality.

In the present day, cyber-violence and hate speech is becoming increasingly common against women online, occurring across multiple platforms such as social media, messaging services, blogs, and the comment sections of news websites. The ideology of feminism has an impact on cyber violence targeting women. Even some political leaders utilize internet trolls as a means of demonizing political rivals, criticizing feminism, and suppressing women's rights (Wihbey, 2015). While digital spaces are rife with potential dangers, women continue to use them as public spaces across the region to express their concerns.

The Nigerian media has started to slowly recognizing the importance of covering women's issues more extensively. There has been a minimal discussion of issues such as gender-based violence and the need for greater economic empowerment of women. Nigerian women have been making few gains in terms of political representation. In 2015, the country elected its first female governor and a record number of women have been elected to the National Assembly (Simwa, 2017b). There has been a rise in the number of women in leadership

positions and on the boards of political parties. In addition, the country has seen an increase in the number of women running for office in the 2019 elections. The Nigerian media and civil space are also taking steps to ensure gender equality in the workplace. This includes promoting equal pay for equal work, protecting women from discrimination, and ensuring that women have access to resources and opportunities.

#### 3.4 Conclusion

The new media has therefore contributed to the divagation of the public sphere regarding issues, perspectives, and personalities involved. Anonymous communication and virtuality can contribute to the diversity of conversation on the Internet and the variety of communication formats can lead to extremists insulting others, spreading fake news, and making threats. In addition to being resistant to censorship, the internet complements the mass media. A global network of communication can promote some public interests, influencing domestic and global politics. Some scholars argue that the Internet has contributed to the fragmentation and diversification of the public sphere. The public sphere, which is traditionally seen as a space for political and social discourse, has traditionally been dominated by a few key institutions, such as the media and political parties. However, the rise of the Internet has allowed for the emergence of new platforms and voices, such as social media, blogs, and online forums, which have expanded the range of perspectives and opinions in the public sphere.

This has led to a more diverse and dynamic public sphere, with a wider range of issues and perspectives being discussed and debated. However, it has also led to fragmentation and the rise of echo chambers, where individuals are only exposed to perspectives that align with their own beliefs and values (Garrett, 2009). This can lead to the polarization of public opinion and the marginalization of certain voices and perspectives.

Overall, the new media has contributed to both the diversification and fragmentation of the public sphere, and the impact of these changes depends on how individuals and institutions

use and engage with online platforms. Therefore, Emirbayer and Sheller propose the internet of public spheres as an open-ended platform for socially distant participants to share collective perspectives, build relationships, and cultivate emotional attachments that allow speakers to influence issues of common issues (Emirbayer & Sheller, 1998). It is also a place where debates and confrontations take place. Though it will never be quite the same as Habermas' coffeehouse ideals, the public sphere still exists today. Communication is now moderated through digital media. Virtuality is always at the heart of the public sphere. Despite Habermas' long-standing concept of public spheres, powerful forces have always threatened it - in the past and the present. By limiting, maiming, and controlling individuals in any way necessary. Regardless, using digital communications technology, individuals and groups may be able to accomplish change.

# **CHAPTER 4: Exploring the Poverty Crisis in Nigeria**

There is no denying that poverty in Nigeria is a serious issue. Since 1999, Nigeria has been one of the poorest countries in the world. This has necessitated the introduction of several poverty relief programs by the government. As poverty is often measured using different indicators and methodologies, it is difficult to rank Nigeria on poverty in the world accurately. Nevertheless, according to data from the World Bank, Nigeria is the poverty capital of the world, with over 40% of its population living in extreme poverty (defined as living on less than \$1.90 per day). Poverty is a state or condition in which an individual or group lacks the financial resources and/or necessary social support to meet their basic needs for food, shelter, clothing, and healthcare. Poverty is often associated with a lack of access to education, clean water, and other essential services, as well as social and economic marginalization (Omotola, 2008). It can result from various factors, including economic inequality, natural disasters, conflict, and government policies. Poverty can have severe negative impacts on an individual's 908physical and mental health, as well as on their overall quality of life. Nigeria is considered to have one of the highest poverty rates in the world as a result of this fact.

Over 87 million Nigerians are estimated to live in extreme poverty according to the World Poverty Clock. A harsh reality has emerged that Nigeria has become one of the world's poorest nations, a status that is very undesirable. As a result, no Nigerian government can survive without adopting some form of poverty reduction strategy. Despite such efforts, Nigeria is still among the world's 25 poorest countries (World Bank, 2021). It is inevitable that a new government will end or abandon the poverty-relief initiatives of previous governments, no matter what the results were. Nigeria has established policies and implemented programs over the years, but poverty persists (Okonjo-Iweala & Osafo-Kwaako, 2007). Nigeria is no exception to the need for developing and implementing programs that fight poverty.

In fact, many policies for reducing poverty have been marred by political unrest and the lack of patriotic leaders and managers to implement them effectively (Omotola, 2008). Nigeria is a country located in West Africa. There are over 200 million people living on its 1,080,000 square kilometers of land. The country has a large coastline on the Gulf of Guinea and is bordered by Cameroon, Niger, and Benin. Nigeria is divided into 36 states and the Federal Capital Territory. It is home to over 200 ethnic groups and languages. The official language is English, but over 100 languages are spoken in the country. The country is rich in natural resources, but the majority of the population lives in poverty, and over sixty percent of children are stunted as a result of malnutrition. Nigeria has been ranked as one of the most corrupt countries in the world and has a history of political instability.

One of the key factors that have helped Nigeria to reduce poverty is the growth of digital media. Digital media has played a significant role in promoting democracy and good governance in the country. It has been a powerful tool for fighting corruption in Nigeria and promoting transparency and accountability. Shola (2010) opines that the new media has also helped to raise awareness about the problems of poverty and the need for economic reform. It has also contributed to social inclusion and empowerment of the poor. Nigerians have also been able to raise their voices through digital media. They have been able to share their stories and experiences through it. Moreover, it has helped create a platform for dialogue and debate on poverty and economic development. The people of Nigeria were able to feel a sense of solidarity (Tayo, Thompson, & Thompson, 2015).

Nigeria is an extremely populous country. With such a large population, Nigeria is a natural hotspot for digital media. Nigeria is the largest market for digital media in Africa and one of the largest in the world. The country's large and young population, combined with increasing internet penetration, has made it an attractive market for digital media companies. In recent years, there has been significant growth in digital media usage in Nigeria. This includes the use of social media platforms, online video platforms, and streaming services. Many Nigerian consumers also use their mobile devices to access online content, including news, entertainment, and other types of information. Digital media has also played a role in the

growth of e-commerce in Nigeria, with more and more people shopping online for a wide range of products and services .

This is due to Nigeria's high internet penetration rate, as well as the country's large population of smartphone users. Nigeria is one of the most active and engaged digital media countries in the world. From the year 2000, Nigeria had experienced a successful internet penetration rate. According World Bank (2020), Nigeria's internet penetration rate was around 12% in 2010. However, by 2020, the country's internet penetration rate had reached over 36%, indicating a significant increase in the number of people with access to the internet in Nigeria (World bank, 2020). In 2020, there was a 52.32% increase in internet users in Nigeria.

There are several factors that have contributed to the growth in internet penetration in Nigeria. One of the main factors has been the proliferation of mobile devices, which has made it easier for people to access the internet. In addition, the expansion of broadband infrastructure, including the deployment of fiber optic cables, has also played a role in increasing internet access in the country (Nwachukwu & Onyenankeya, 2017). Finally, the development of e-commerce and other online services has also contributed to the growth in internet usage in Nigeria (Gabriel, Ogbuigwe, & Ahiauzu, 2016). Additionally, the presence of local ISPs and a growing number of mobile users have helped to drive the growth of internet access in Nigeria (Nwachukwu & Onyenankeya, 2017). Nigerians have been able to access the internet at an increasing rate since the emergence of new smartphones that are more affordable and the building of fiber optic infrastructure. This high penetration rate means that a large number of Nigerians have access to digital media.

Among Nigeria's mobile internet providers, MTN is the main provider. In Nigeria, MTN has over 65 million internet subscribers (Akintaro, 2022). MTN has recently been licensed to operate mobile payments by the Central Bank of Nigeria. Another leading mobile provider is Globacom, based in Lagos, Nigeria's 9mobile, and Airtel. Out of over 190 countries, Nigeria

is among the 60 nations that have the cheapest and most expensive mobile data rates. African nations rank Nigeria among the lowest for mobile data costs (Solène Benhaddou, 2021).

## 4.1 The Rise of Social media users in Nigeria

Nigeria has some of the largest smartphone ownership rates, meaning social media could be profitable. Approximately 33 million Nigerians use social media (Jacob, 2021). WhatsApp and Facebook are the most popular. Afterward, Instagram and Messenger. Social media usage is high among young adults in Nigeria. Approximately 33 million Nigerians (of any age bracket) had used one or more social media platforms since 2021 (Sasu, 2022).

It is interesting to note the gender disparity in internet usage in the country. All age groups show the male audience share is higher than the female audience share. At that time, 41.7 percent of Nigeria's social media users were female, while 58.3 percent were male (Sasu, 2022). Social media has become an important platform for expressing opinions and engaging in public discourse, and the fact that more males are using social media could be a contributing factor to their higher level of engagement in social and political issues.

It is important to note, however, that this does not mean that females in Nigeria are not interested in or engaged in social and political issues. It may simply mean that they are not as visible or vocal on social media platforms or in other public forums as much as their male counterparts. Gender inequality and discrimination against women are still major issues in Nigeria, and it is important to work towards creating more opportunities and platforms for women to voice their opinions and participate in public discourse.

Economic growth and poverty reduction have been challenges for Nigeria, like many other developing countries. The adoption of new technologies and innovative approaches can help reduce poverty and corruption by addressing issues such as unemployment and inadequate infrastructure (Ighoshemu & Ogidiagba, 2022). By utilizing new media, this can be accomplished. As well as disseminating information, new media can promote democratic values. Furthermore, new media can help to create a more participatory society by

empowering citizens to share their views and experiences. Thus, new media can be a powerful tool for sustaining Nigeria's development. By using new media to engage citizens and promote transparency and accountability, Nigeria can create a more prosperous and democratic society.

# 4.2 Exploring the Relationship Between Nigerian Poverty and Media Intervention: Challenges and Opportunities.

The relationship between Nigerian poverty and media involvement has been difficult to analyze over the years. It is a challenging task to do so based on empirical or data considerations. There are no social and economic databases available for the analysis of this historical period. In addition to the measurement of poverty and the assessment of media intervention in Nigeria, these databases could also provide insights into the dynamics of poverty and the impact of media intervention on it. Taking into consideration the media scrutiny and program implementation patterns that are taking place, insights gained from this study may provide implications concerning the targeting of programs and sensitivity studies of poverty.

While it is clear that poverty is a serious issue in Nigeria, the role that media plays in perpetuating or alleviating poverty is less clear. On one hand, media can be a powerful tool for raising awareness about poverty and its causes, and can also be used to advocate for change (Suleiman & Ojomo, 2019). On the other hand, media can also be used to exploit and sensationalize poverty, which can ultimately lead to further marginalization of the poor (Van Duyn, 2020). In recent years, there has been a growing body of research on the role of media in poverty alleviation. While this research is still in its early stages, there are some clear trends emerging. First, it is becoming increasingly clear that media can play a significant role in poverty alleviation, particularly when it is used to raise awareness about the issue and to advocate for change. Second, while media can be a powerful tool for poverty

alleviation, it can also be used to exploit and sensationalize poverty, which can ultimately lead to further marginalization of the poor.

By utilizing new media as a public sphere, citizens may form differing views regarding their ability to influence political decisions as well as their interest in national issues like poverty. Media have long played an important role in shaping, expressing, and consuming public opinion (Halloran, 1970). How does Nigeria's digital media facilitate citizen debates around issues and hold the government accountable for ending poverty? Public debates on poverty issues and policies have greatly benefited from the use of digital media in Nigeria. Making public policy requires a complex decision-making process in a modern and democratic political system. Public policy is undoubtedly one of the most important aspects of governance, according to Jega (2003).

Public opinion often plays a significant role in policymaking. According to Ugumanim, Bassey, Obo, et al (2014) study, Nigeria's political system does not reflect the views of Nigerians. Nigerian politicians rarely take Nigerian citizens' opinions into consideration when making policy decisions (Obo & Obo, 2013). It is challenging for individuals to form rational critical opinions that can challenge established power structures because of the fragmentation caused by mass media, according to Habermas. In fact, mass media actually serve more as a platform for passive spectatorship, stale news, and publicity. New media enable citizens to actively participate in society. Despite Habermas's different view of how communication can take place if institutions are freed from restrictions that govern communication, they may promote the consensus that Habermas argues is necessary for democratic participation. Social media and the Internet have established a balanced public sphere.

Aside from this, the relationship between the media and the Nigerian government has remained complex and dynamic over time. In general, the media and the government work together to serve the public good (Rachel Pollack Ichou & Unesco, 2018). However, when they have political differences, the media is used by politicians as a platform for their

political agendas. In the course of performing these functions, they have opposing political views. When there are political disagreements between the government and the people, the media, is often used as a mouthpiece for the former. This is because both governments and media organizations have political interests; they are run by people with power who want to get their way in society. When working towards this end, both governments and media organizations will use facts to support their viewpoints - disregarding or dismissing facts that do not suit their purposes (Bennett & Livingston, 2018).

In order to maintain unity and stability in the nation, it is imperative that the media and government maintain a cordial relationship. Both institutions strive to provide information and entertainment to their citizens in their capacity as stakeholders in the development of their countries (Adenle, 2020). Their responsibilities also include law and order and public safety. This is why it's important for both sides to respect facts when negotiating with each other. Agreements cannot be reached if one side disrespects facts or refuses to cooperate with the other side's factual statements. Legislation becomes necessary when both sides disagree on facts. As a result, the conflict between the media and government is prevented rather than promoted. As an example, both parties press for laws that support their interests. Due to this, one party is favored over another, which adversely affects societal development. Legislation should protect all parties and allow them to pursue their interests without fear of reprisals from government authorities or private harassment by a few factions within society.

According to what has been written above, maintaining unity and stability between the media and government is difficult, but not impossible. Both institutions use news reporting as a platform to advance their own agendas when they have political disagreements- resulting in conflict rather than cooperation (Chibuwe, 2012). It is unfortunate that the media is at the center of the conflict between these two institutions. When they disagree politically, both institutions use news reporting to advance their own agendas. To avoid this, laws must be made that promote cooperation between government and media without favoring one party over another. Having mutual respect for facts makes cooperation between both institutions easier and results in better outcomes for society.

We explore factors related to media influence from the past to the present in order to better understand why poverty persists in Nigeria despite economic growth and decades of poverty alleviation programs. At certain historical moments, the media can have a pivotal impact on poverty dynamics and persistence. The reason for this is that these media channels influence the way institutions and actors interact within political, economic, and governance structures. It is necessary to examine the mechanisms that hold these past influences responsible for reproducing and affecting poverty dynamics over time. The concept of poverty has many dimensions in terms of the context in which it occurs. The poor are disadvantaged in terms of opportunity, empowerment, and security. In particular, they are vulnerable to diseases, violence, and other threats that are a result of pollution, climate change, and other factors that have a negative impact on their health (Dapel, 2018). In addition to being insecure, powerless, and excluded from society as a whole, having a poverty problem means being unable to contribute effectively to society. The media is not exempt either. It often occurs because the environment lacks adequate public services, such as access to information and the internet.

Digital media outlets in Nigeria have grown exponentially since 2000. Many offline newspapers have been transformed into big online publications such as The Guardian (Nigeria), Punch (Nigeria), The Nigerian Observer, The Nation Online, Premium Times, Naij.com, Sahara Reporters, and Legit.ng. These outlets provide local and international news coverage, along with features ranging from political commentary to sports, entertainment, and lifestyle. Most news websites aim to push the boundaries of investigative journalism and incisive journalism. Additionally, many of these outlets have embraced the use of social media, utilizing platforms such as Twitter, Facebook, and Instagram to reach a wider audience and interact with followers. In addition to news outlets, Nigeria is home to a growing number of digital media startups. These startups are harnessing technology to solve problems and create new opportunities for Nigerians. Examples include BudgIT, a platform that makes public budgets more transparent and accessible. A major role of the Nigerian new

media has been to act as a watchdog since its inception, holding power and government accountable for their actions.

## 4.3 Dilemma in Poverty Reduction

There is no denying that the government understands the power it has at its disposal. A number of different acts of repression have taken place against the media in the past few years, including intimidation, detention, and censorship. Nigerian new media can contribute to the growth of participatory politics in the country. In other words, new media, depending on the context in which they are used, are able to contribute to poverty reduction in various ways (Livingstone & Lunt, 2013). Over the past few years, there have been several stories about how digital technology can be a positive influence on our lives, but this illusion of directness is causing ineffective policymaking because it does not take into consideration the many challenges that this process has to overcome. Media participation is imperative in poverty alleviation programs in order to create the impression that these programs are working or not. Alternatively, it can also be used as a communication tool in order to inform the public about the detrimental effects of political influence on poverty reduction by using it as a channel to inform them of these challenges. Educating the public about poverty reduction can be done through the media.

Garcia, Kohl, Ruengsorn, and Zislin (2006) argue that overcoming poverty in Nigeria will be challenging due to a variety of factors, including poor management of anti-poverty programs, a lack of economic growth, and a lack of health and education resources. In their view, policies and programs that provide opportunities and improve the capabilities of the poor are one of the most critical components of growth. Education, health care, employment, and agricultural development are some of the most significant of these. In many studies it has been found that economic growth is an imperative factor for decreasing poverty in developing countries, however, Nigeria has a deviant case in that it has substantial economic growth that has not led to any decrease in poverty. According to Nigeria's National Bureau of Statistics, it is estimated that as of 2020, 40 percent of Nigerians are living in poverty

(National Bureau of Statistics, Nigeria, 2019). Nigeria will not release its 2021 poverty profile until 2022, according to reports. It is estimated that 90 million Nigerians, or 45 percent of the country's population, live in poverty (World Bank Group, 2022). Even though there is a popular expectation that Nigerian democracy will be successful, poverty levels seem to be increasing rather than decreasing in the country. There have been various ways in which successive governments in Nigeria have dealt with the issue of poverty since the return of democracy in 1999.

The fourth republic was launched on 29 May 1999 with a new constitution. In addition to electing a president, Nigeria's population was called upon to elect state governors and members of state Houses of Assembly. A significant role was played by the new media during this period, as it had done during the current regime. Between 1999 and 2003, the media played a crucial role in exposing corruption, human rights abuses, electoral malpractices, etc., which led to the government cracking down on them. This was because "the new media had become an important player for civil society" (Uwakwe 2010:5). As a result of this study, the role of new media in poverty issues has been examined under democratic rule since 1999. This will help us understand how journalists, bloggers, and commentators covered poverty topics under democracy using the new media.

There have been several promises regarding press freedom since independence, but these promises have never been fulfilled (Oyebola 2006:11) - showing that press freedom has been more unsuccessful than successful (Uwakwe 2010:10). The news industry seems to be in a state of flux, however, due to developments like the proliferation of online publications across the country, particularly Lagos - where over 5000 articles are published every day, suggesting an increase in competition among journalists (Oyebola 2006:4). Alternative sources of information include controversial internet news websites such as Sahara Reporters, Premium Times, Leadership, PUNCH, etc. - giving readers access to information never before possible (Oyebola 2006:12). In spite of this development, journalists in Nigeria still face several challenges that limit their freedom. There are many challenges to this profession, such as lack of self-government, corruption, political and economic dominance.

lack of protection for journalists and other media workers, threats to free speech, etc. (Uwakwe 2010:11). For example, in 1999, the Obasanjo administration threatened Nigerian digital media companies. Government officials were concerned about the content of the journalism produced by these companies. According to Dataphyte, a media research organization, there were over 179 recorded incidents of violence against journalists and media workers in Nigeria between 1997 and 2020, resulting in 78 deaths (Abdullah, 2020). These abuses included physical assault by the police, destruction of equipment, harassment, intimidation, and obstruction. In November 2002, the premises of three independent newspapers were invaded by the police, and several journalists were arrested for publishing stories critical of the Rivers state government (Uzuegbunam, 2012). In June 2003, officials of the National Sports Commission attempted to buy up all copies of Tell magazine before it was released, due to the magazine containing an article about corruption in the All African Games (Tertsakian, 2003).

In April 2012, the This Day office in Abuja was destroyed by a bomb planted by Boko Haram, highlighting the ongoing danger journalists face in Nigeria (Brock, 2012). The internet provocateurs may have believed that the Nigerian government has used the Boko Haram militant group as a tool to intimidate and threaten the media. According to them, the government is targeting journalists who report negative news about the government or its policies through the group. There has been a history of Boko Haram attacking media outlets and abducting journalists in order to prevent them from disseminating certain types of news. In addition, online critics believe that the government has used the threat of Boko Haram to suppress criticism of its policies and to discourage independent reporting.

According to Keita (2013), Boko Haram accounted for only one-fifth of attacks against the press in Nigeria in 2012–most were committed by government forces and officials, according to CPJ research—but the group's brutal tactics caused much greater fear. Further in his article Keita (2013), pinpointed an email to the Committee to Protect Journalists (CPJ) from Daily Trust investigative editor Nuruddeen Abdallah who further expressed his views; "Generally, there is a shift on the part of the media from blaming all attacks and killings on the group

unless it claims responsibility. So, you now find the media using 'gunmen' and 'attackers' to describe suspects of attacks that are without clear signatures of the insurgents. We are now being more careful with all the information," including "the usual security agencies' spins on their 'successes' in tackling the militant group." (Keita, 2013)

It is important to note that the use of Boko Haram to intimidate and threaten the media is not a confirmed fact, but rather an allegation made by some individuals and organizations. While it is true that Boko Haram has attacked media outlets and abducted journalists, it is not clear if the Nigerian government has directly or indirectly used the group for these purposes (Demarest, Godefroidt, & Langer, 2020). It is also worth noting that the Nigerian government has condemned the actions of Boko Haram and has made efforts to combat the group and protect the safety of journalists. It is important for the media to continue reporting on the situation in Nigeria objectively and accurately, without fear of intimidation or threats.

In a similar fashion, numerous other Nigerian laws contain secrecy clauses that forbid the disclosure of information in the public interest. In many cases, courts cannot compel the disclosure of such information. It is possible to find such secrecy clauses in the Evidence Act, Section 168, Section 2 of the Federal Commissions (Privileges and Immunities) Act, Cap 130, LFN, 1990: Section 10(2) of the Public Complaints Commission Act; and Section 13 of the Statistics Act.

Historically, Nigeria's government has been creating multiple institutions and agencies to combat poverty. These institutions and agencies include the Family Economic Advancement Programme (FEAP), Operation Feed the Nation, the People's Bank, Rural Banking, Universal Basic Education (UBE), Directorate of Food, Roads and Rural Infrastructure (DFRRI), National Directorate of Employment (NDE), among others. However, none of the above initiatives have had a significant impact on the poverty rate in Nigeria. In addition to coordination issues, insufficient implementation of sustainable strategies, vague policies on poverty eradication, setting unachievable goals, and insufficient monitoring were among the

challenges identified by think tanks. As a result of the lack of effective coordination and collaboration between government agencies, unnecessary rivalry resulted.

YEAR	PROGRAMS	OBJECTIVE	RESULTS
1976	Operation Feed The Nation (OFN)	Boost Nigerian food and cash crop production	Oil revenue surged, causing Nigerians to migrate to the city, leaving agricultural opportunities.
1980	Green Revolution Programme	To ensure self-sufficiency in food production with modern tech.	A shortage of food is caused by farmers' unwillingness to adopt new technologies
1986	Structural Adjustment Programme(SAP)	Reducing poverty and checking economic crises	Manufacturing sector underperformed due to poor implementation
1986	National Directorate of Employment(NDE)	Promoting skills acquisition and entrepreneurship	Training Nigerian youths on different skills showed limited success.
1987	Better life for Rural Women	The purpose is to encourage self-help and development for rural women.	It was a small achievement for women's rights and their awareness of becoming self-sufficient
1994	Family Support Programme (FSP)	Specifically for rural dwellers	Monitoring and supervision were lacking
1994	The Petroleum Trust Fund (PTF)	Rehabilitation and provision of basic facilities	The contract has been criticized for fraud and nepotism
1997	Family Economic Advancement Programme (FEAP)	Providing credit facilities to help rural areas develop cottage industries.	It failed because of corruption, poor supervision, and poor management.

2000	Poverty Alleviation Programme (PAP)	To provide employment	Poor management
2000	Bank of Industry	Financing SMEs and accelerating industrial growth	It is difficult for the bank to operate due to poor outreach performance and politics
2001	National Poverty Eradication Programme (NAPEP)	Development of rural infrastructure, and health care, and education.	It performs poorly because of poor management and corruption.
2004	National Economic Empowerment Development Strategies (NEEDS)	The provision of social amenities	Failed because 70% of the country's population was still poor.
2012	Subsidy Reinvestment and Empowerment Programme (SURE-P)	Nigerian citizens can benefit directly from critical infrastructure projects and social safety net programs	Government officials diverted funds set aside to finance the program.
2016	Need for Power Program (N-POWER Programme)	Increasing employability, entrepreneurial and technical skills among youth	Youths without connections are rarely trained to work in temporary jobs.
2016	Conditional Cash Transfer Program (CCT)	Long-term cash transfers to the most vulnerable households	Challenges like reaching eligible beneficiaries and ensuring that funds are used correctly.
2016	Home Grown School Feeding Program (HGSF)	Enrolling primary school children and reducing dropouts with free lunches.	Poorly prepared food and not enough for the pupils.

## 4.4 President Olusegun Obasanjo's Era

During the Olusegun Obasanjo era, 70 percent of Nigerians lived below the poverty line (George, 2021). Based on these evaluations, several presidential panels were formed to study past poverty alleviation schemes and improve them.

These findings and recommendations were used to implement the National Poverty Alleviation Programme in 2001. Nigerian President Olusegun Obasanjo implemented several policies and initiatives aimed at reducing poverty.

To resolve this problem, new legislation was enacted by the federal government. Poverty was addressed by the National Poverty Eradication Program (NAPEP) in 2000. According to NAPEP, which follows the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), core poverty (extreme poverty) will be eradicated by 2010. The plan includes the following points:

- Coordinate all federal poverty eradication efforts;
- Tracking and monitoring all federal poverty eradication activities;
- Keeping a comprehensive and detailed database of all Nigerian poverty-eradication activities;
- To assess the impact of all poverty eradication efforts in Nigeria and recommend the necessary revisions and policies for better effectiveness; and;
- Directly implementing scaled key priority projects in key sectors. (NAPEP Today; 2007).

Among NAPEP's missions were the eradication of poverty, reforming anti-poverty institutions, and facilitating and overseeing government programs and schemes. The Youth Empowerment Scheme (YES) aims to reduce poverty. Program goals are to develop capacity, provide attachments, improve production, provide credit, and promote youth enterprises. Rural Infrastructure Development (RIDS) focuses on energy and power supply as part of the scheme. A top priority of the NAPEP objectives is also the Social Welfare Services Scheme, which provides children and young adults with education and healthcare, microcredit and rural telecommunications facilities, public transportation, and maintenance

services. As part of the National Resource Development and Conservation Scheme (NRDCS), agricultural, mineral, and other natural resource development is promoted, along with land conservation for the benefit of businesses (NAPEP Today; 2007). Five key areas are the focus of the program: education, health care, rural infrastructure, urban development, and food security. Five key areas are the focus of the program: education, health care, rural infrastructure, urban development, and food security.

Thus, NAPEP was set up to offer a holistic approach to solving Nigeria's poverty problems. Although ambitious, it does not seem to be doing any better than its predecessors (Omotola, 2008). A take-off grant of N6 billion was approved to establish poverty eradication projects in all 50 states, the Federal Capital Territory, and 774 local governments (George, 2021). Despite this, little progress has been made. There was little difference in poverty-eradication outcomes despite the involvement of different ministries. Researchers found duplication of efforts had little effect. Despite training 130,000 youths and engaging 216,000 people through the program, a majority of the beneficiaries were still poor according to the 2008 study (Iwuoha & Obi, 2012).

The privatization of state-owned enterprises, as well as the liberalization of trade, were also introduced by the Obasanjo administration to stimulate economic growth and reduce poverty. The poverty rate in Nigeria remained high while Obasanjo was president, and the country remained one of the poorest countries in the world. Most critics used the media outlets to criticize Obasanjo for privatizing state-owned enterprises in 2000, arguing that the move would only benefit a small number of people (the elites) and lead to increased corruption (VOA, 2009). Some media outlets also accused Obasanjo of nepotism, arguing that cronies and friends of the president bought many of the companies that were sold off (Tume Ahemba, 2007). The Nigerian media has criticized President Olusegun Obasanjo for his role in the privatization of the country's power sector. In an editorial, the Daily Trust said that "it is now obvious that the process was flawed from the start" and that "the president must take responsibility for the mess." The newspaper also accused Obasanjo of "arrogance" and "insensitivity" in the way he handled the issue (Daily Trust, 2007). The Vanguard (2011)

reported that "the manner in which the power sector was privatized was fraught with so many irregularities that it calls for a thorough investigation." The newspaper also accused Obasanjo of "blatant disregard" for the National Assembly and called on him to "come clean" on the issue.

In the article published online by Vanguard (2011), Ishaq Modibbo Kawu solely criticizes the idea of privatization as ideological garbage;

"Our ruling class is actually a group of glorified thieves, and privatization became effusively embraced, because it allowed them to pretend that they were doing something more noble than theft, by privatizing national assets, while spewing the ideological garbage that 'government has no business with business'; 'only the private-sector can profitably run enterprises', and such utter tosh! In truth, what was being done was to uproot Nigeria as we knew it, especially from the 1970s, when import-substitution industrialization at least created jobs, around Nigeria. The process of privatization which the Obasanjo years foisted on Nigeria, has led to the cheap sales of many strategic national assets; stripping of valuables from these assets; de-industrialization and the loss of hundreds of thousands of jobs; and the entrenchment in the economy and political space of Nigeria, of the worst specimens of humans without patriotism, but an obscene gluttony and greed for theft and more theft!" (Vanguard, 2011)

As a result of the failure of privatization, the global media became interested. The Guardian of the United Kingdom noted the move was "largely seen as a political maneuver aimed at benefiting Obasanjo's cronies and weakening his opponents". In a report made in Reuters, many Nigerians said Mr. Obasanjo privatized the company to reward allies (Tume Ahemba, 2007). Between 1999 and 2003, Nigeria had the most corrupt political system in the world (Silva, 2013). According to an article published by BBC, Nigeria is widely seen as the most corrupt place on Earth (Orjinmo, 2022).

#### 4.4.1 Expectations unmet after privatization

As a result of privatizing the electricity sector, electricity prices have increased, electricity supplies have become unreliable, and the government is unable to regulate the sector. Stakeholders have expressed doubt over the viability of the privatization of the distribution and generation arms of the industry for over eight years ago. In November 2013, the Federal Government privatized six successor power generation companies and 11 distribution firms (NERC, 2013). \$469mn was paid by investors for a higher percentage stake (Vanguard, 2013). Eight years after the unbundling of the PHCN, the nation has not registered significant milestones in the power sector, according to Vanguard. According to Statista (2022), a 36.15 percent increase in the cost of electricity meters, in addition, the crisis rocking Nigeria's power sector seems to be expanding annually despite efforts by the Federal Government and the private sector in managing it.

Privatization is a key aspect of capitalism because it involves the transfer of ownership and control of businesses and other assets from the public sector to the private sector. This shift in ownership and control allows for market forces, such as supply and demand, to determine the allocation of resources, rather than the government. In this way, privatization can be seen as a way of advancing the principles of capitalism by increasing competition, efficiency, and profitability.

Additionally, privatization can also be seen as a form of deregulation, as it often involves the removal of government regulations and controls over the private sector. This can create a more flexible and dynamic economy, but it can also lead to increased inequality and other social and economic problems. In general, privatization is an important aspect of capitalism and has both positive and negative effects on society (Adams & Mengistu, 2008).

There has been media coverage of how privatization has increased inequality in Nigeria, as private companies may prioritize profit over providing affordable services to low-income individuals and communities. This has resulted in poorer communities suffering from inadequate access to basic services such as healthcare, education, housing, and

transportation, while wealthier individuals and companies have access to better services. This has further widened the gap between the rich and the poor and has led to increased poverty and social unrest throughout the country. Furthermore, the lack of regulation and oversight of private companies has resulted in increased corruption, as the companies have the potential to exploit the system for their own gain. This has caused Nigeria to fall behind in terms of economic and social development, as resources are not being evenly distributed among the population.

Privatization led to job loss in the Nigerian labor market, as private companies may operate more efficiently and reduce their workforce in order to increase profits. This can lead to increased unemployment and a negative impact on the economy. Privatization in Nigeria led to job losses in the labor market for several reasons. Firstly, private companies are driven by the need to maximize profits, which necessitates reducing overhead costs. Therefore, one of the ways to achieve this is to reduce their workforce. This is done through layoffs, early retirement, and other restructuring measures (Adams & Mengistu, 2008). Secondly, the influx of foreign companies in the Nigerian market has increased competition, forcing local firms to lower their costs in order to remain competitive. This often means cutting back on the number of employees. Lastly, the privatization of state-run enterprises has resulted in the displacement of many public-sector workers who have been unable to find new jobs in the private sector. This has exacerbated the already high unemployment rate in the country.

Privatization of Nigerian public enterprises created opportunities for corruption, as private companies influence government decisions in order to gain a competitive advantage or secure contracts. This can be seen in the Nigerian oil industry, where private companies have lobbied to gain access to lucrative contracts, and in the telecom industry, where private companies have benefited from government decisions. It has also been seen in the privatization of banks, where private companies have been accused of using their influence to secure government loans. In addition, privatization has led to the creation of monopolies, which have been used to manipulate prices and limit competition (Adams & Mengistu, 2008).

The privatization of Nigerian public enterprises has also led to a lack of accountability and transparency, as private companies are not subject to the same levels of scrutiny as public entities. This has allowed companies to take advantage of their positions and engage in unethical practices.

There were mixtures of viewpoints from the media especially the news websites and social media on how privatization led to a decrease in the quality of services provided, as private companies prioritized profit over investing in the maintenance and improvement of infrastructure or services. Some argued that privatization leads to a decrease in quality due to the profit motive of private companies, which causes them to cut corners and invest less in infrastructure or services than public companies would (Stephen, Omokhudu, & Anthony, 2016). They argued that public companies are better able to provide consistent and reliable services due to the fact that they are not driven by the same profit motives and are incentivized to invest in the maintenance and improvement of infrastructure and services (Adams & Mengistu, 2008).

On the other hand, some argued that privatization can actually lead to an increase in the quality of services provided, as private companies have more efficient management and are able to use innovative methods to maximize efficiency and reduce costs (Premium Times, 2018). They argued that private companies are better able to respond to customer needs and requirements than public companies, and are better able to innovate and invest in new technologies and services.

Approximately 65% of Facebook users in Nigeria criticized the government as of 2011 for privatizing Nigerian public enterprises (Etieyibo, 2011). As a result, companies have been able to control essential resources and services, which has contributed to income inequality in Nigeria. As a result, many public enterprises have been closed or restructured, resulting in job losses.

As Obasanjo's administration had strained relations with Nigerian media over frequent criticism of NAPEP activities. Obasanjo was accused of stifling the media and suppressing dissent. His government harassed journalists and censored the media. Media outlets critical of his leadership were regularly threatened during his two terms. Nigerian Broadcasting Commission Act of 1999, which revokes media licenses, was also passed by his government (NBC, 2004). There was also a rise in defamation and libel penalties. The measures were viewed as Obasanjo's attempt to control the media. Many critics argue that NBC has too much power to regulate and censor content, limiting media diversity. The Act is also insufficient in addressing issues of media ownership and concentration, which could result in the dominance of a few large corporations. Diverse and independent information sources can be restricted.

For example, armed State Security Service agents seized documents, equipment, and money at Insider Weekly's Lagos offices on September 4. They seized the entire print run of the September 5 edition, sealed off the offices, and replaced the locks (Refworld, 2005). Several employees went into hiding. As a result of the raid, many private newspapers published editorials criticizing the administration; the SSS harassed the media widely within the media industry.

In their long but fruitless lobbying effort for the Freedom of Information Act, local journalists continued to push for greater access to government information and whistleblower protection. Several civil society groups introduced the bill more than five years ago, but it has stagnated. The Freedom of Information Act was later passed by the House on May 28, 2011, but was yet to be ratified by the Senate and Obasanjo's predecessor, Goodluck Jonathan (Simwa, 2017).

The House of Senate demanded where the N12 billion poverty reduction fund was found after a few media investigations into NAPEP operations (Vanguard, 2013). Investigations revealed that while N10 billion was locked up in failed financial institutions, N150 million was paid to a contractor for work that was not completed on NAPEP's tricycle project. Also,

the Senate Public Accounts Committee found evidence that the agency paid customs duties on undeliverable spare parts. Furthermore, N1.4 billion was paid to unchecked projects that were not verified by the Auditor General of the Federation (AGF) in order to avoid audit risks (Vanguard, 2013).

In order to alleviate poverty in Nigeria, the government has made a number of efforts. According to Hussaini (2014), poor implementation processes always result in program setbacks. Influential cliques monopolize benefits. The main beneficiaries in microcredit applications are supposed to be cooperatives or women groups, but they are often replaced by their families, friends, or followers. In the wake of the Poverty Alleviation Programme's failure, the Federal Government began to say that the 10 billion Naira allocated for the program was wasted.

In light of repeated failures of such government interventions, it is evident that the current strategy needs to be reworked. Identifying the problem is the first step to ensuring success. Identifying the problem is the first step to ensuring success. Often, beneficiaries are regarded as members of the ruling party when it should be unemployed Nigerians, regardless of their politics. It is crucial that politicians do not hijack such projects for their own purposes. In addition, monitoring the activities of officials implementing poverty alleviation programs is crucial. The success of such sensitive projects on a national scale depends on those overseeing them being trustworthy and dedicated. NAPEP's project monitoring committee also failed to oversee the project adequately. This has unavoidable consequences. Programs designed to alleviate poverty have been plagued by corruption and mismanagement.

#### 4.5 Yar'Adua's Era

During Yar'Adua's presidency, he designed a seven-point agenda intended to tackle poverty. The media criticized President Yar'Adua for not alleviating poverty in Nigeria with his leadership style. Human Rights Watch, Reuters, and Voice of America contributed many media reports. Meanwhile, domestic media outlets were also exerting pressure on the

government. It is undeniable that the Yar'Adua administration tolerated mainstream media criticism the most. Yar'Adua blames the previous administration for Nigeria's failures, but social commentators blame him for it. Nigerian President Umaru Yar'Adua, who served as president from 2007 to 2010, is difficult to evaluate in terms of poverty reduction (Ashby, 2007). However, Yar'Adua implemented several policies and initiatives to tackle poverty and improve Nigerian living standards. In the oil-rich Niger Delta region, where poverty rates are particularly high, the Ministry of Niger Delta provided development and social services. The country remained one of the poorest in the world during Yar'Adua's presidency. Under Yar'Adua's leadership, Nigeria's economy was challenged by the global economic downturn, which likely limited the impact of his efforts to reduce poverty.

However, Nigerian President Umaru Yar'Adua has declared the country's energy crisis a national emergency, but media groups have called for him to also declare a state of emergency in the health service. Yar'Adua has said that rehabilitating the transport and electricity sectors is a priority, but has not commented on how he will provide basic services to the poor (Olufemi, 2023). Media community and aid workers were shocked when Yar'Adua announced he would suspend a project initiated by President Obasanjo to construct a modern health center in each of the country's 774 local council districts (BBC, 2007). According to BBC (2007), the project was worth 18 billion naira (\$145 million) and was given to a company believed to be owned by a former aide to Obasanjo

Umaru Musa Yar'Adua had silent conflicts with the media during his tenure. Some journalists and media outlets did criticize Yar'Adua's administration for its handling of the economy, corruption, and other issues, but it is not clear that there was a concerted effort by the media to go against his administration. Yar'Adua was known for his quiet and reserved demeanor, and he was not as confrontational or authoritarian as some of his predecessors. Overall, Yar'Adua's relationship with the media in Nigeria was relatively peaceful compared to some of his predecessors, but there were still instances of government attempts to suppress critical voices and limit freedom of expression. In the context of his illness, which resulted in

a delay in the administration's goals, it was finally accepted by Nigerian citizens that the light is still a long way from the Nigerian people.

The press in Nigeria has been accused of acting in a "cowardly, unpatriotic manner" by failing to report on the state of President Umaru Yar'Adua's health in a timely manner (Whiteman, 2010). The media houses have been called an "accomplice to the bad governance in Nigeria" for their failure to provide needed public information in a timely manner (Whiteman, 2010). It is suggested that the media should review itself and take steps to reinforce the trust it has previously earned. its collective failure to provide needed public information at the right time makes it an accomplice to the bad governance in Nigeria. The online community argues that the media should have sent reporters to Saudi Arabia to provide up-to-date reports on the president's health, and calls for self-evaluation by the news media. It is time for the media to separate itself from the political leadership and lecture the ownership about journalistic duties to the society (News Wires, 2010). In short, the relative freedom enjoyed now must be used to strengthen our democracy, not to weaken it. In short, the relative freedom enjoyed now must be used to strengthen our democracy, not to weaken it. Media is the last hope for the common man. Nigeria will not be safe if it is hijacked by selfish and greedy political and retired military elites.

The media is a powerful tool for informing the public and holding governments accountable for their actions. It is paramount that it is handled with the highest level of integrity and professionalism. Nigerian media owners who mill around the seat of power need to understand that their presence there may be seen as a conflict of interest. It is therefore better that they focus on their original business activities such as exporting sugar or rice and leave the media to those who can manage it with the highest level of integrity.

The press in Nigeria has the responsibility to report on important public matters, including the health of government officials. However, the media in Nigeria has been facing challenges, including threats of violence and legal suits, that have made it difficult for journalists to do their job. In addition, government censorship and the lack of access to public information have also been major impediments.

In response to these challenges, Nigerian media outlets have been putting in place measures to protect journalists and ensure they can do their job without fear of repercussion. These measures include the adoption of a code of conduct for journalists, the establishment of a media council to monitor and enforce ethical standards, and the development of an online platform for whistleblowers.

However, the press in Nigeria failed to serve its duty of providing the public with accurate and timely information about the state of President Yar'Adua's health. (Pindiga & Taylor, 2018) argues that from the start of his illness, the press only reported vague, filtered information that was provided by the government. This lack of access to information led to a lack of trust in the government and created an environment of suspicion and uncertainty. Furthermore, the press was accused of being complicit in covering up the real state of the president's health and was accused of spreading false information. This lack of trust in the press, as well as its inability to provide the public with accurate and timely information, has had a damaging effect on the public's perception of the government and its ability to govern.

Yar'Adua died on May 6, 2010, after failing to achieve his goal of eliminating 'all forms of poverty in Nigeria' as he promised. Yar'Adua's death was a major blow to the nation, and his absence was felt by many of the country's citizens. Despite his best intentions, his economic policies and initiatives did not make a significant dent in Nigeria's poverty levels. His government did manage to implement a number of economic reforms, including the creation of a unified minimum wage, the reduction of import tariffs, and the regulation of oil prices. However, these reforms were not enough to bring about a reduction in poverty. According to the 2010 Harmonized Nigerian Living Standard Survey, 62.6% of Nigerians still lived in extreme poverty ("Nigeria Living Standards Survey 2008-2010 | GHDx," 2019).

On 29 May 2011, Goodluck Jonathan became President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, taking over from Yar'Adua. Accordingly, the implications are that despite ten years of democratic rule, Nigeria cannot enjoy good governance. Upon taking office in 2011, Goodluck Jonathan laid out a transformation agenda he called a roadmap from 2011 to 2015 to address the poverty challenges that Nigeria faces (Awojobi, 2015). It was part of his transformation agenda that the president placed an emphasis on the economy with the objective of increasing economic growth and improving citizen welfare. An important part of his agenda, which was geared towards modernizing the existing system, was to improve its performance. It is the government's intention to implement a new approach to economic management in order to rectify the irregularities that were noticeable in previous economic policies.

### 4.6 President Goodluck Jonathan's Era

Goodluck Jonathan, who served as President of Nigeria from 2010 to 2015, had a contentious relationship with the media in Nigeria. Jonathan was criticized for his handling of several major issues, including the Boko Haram insurgency, corruption, and the economy, and he faced criticism from journalists and media outlets for his lack of transparency and accountability. In 2011, Jonathan signed the Freedom of Information Act into law, which was intended to promote transparency and accountability in government, but its implementation was slow and inadequate (Vanguard, 2011). There were several instances of government repression of the media during Jonathan's presidency, including the arrest and detention of journalists and the shutdown of media outlets. Overall, the media's approach to covering Jonathan's administration was likely critical and skeptical, given the challenges and controversies facing his government.

As a result of the fact that 30% of the federal government's spending in 2011 was devoted to fuel subsidies, which represented about 118 percent of federal capital expenditures in 2011, policymakers argue that continuing to subsidize fuel consumption would not be economically feasible (Onuah, 2012). As a further argument in favor of eliminating or

reducing fuel subsidies, once again, it is argued that fuel subsidies have substantially reduced the oil price in the domestic market in order to maintain an artificially low domestic price, which has discouraged investments in the oil industry in the country. There is a solid consensus among many politicians that it would be better to remove or reduce fuel subsidies (VOA, 2011). The Nigerian economy is highly dependent on this sector for its development, and therefore, the current situation does not favor this sector either. There have been immediate impacts on the poor and vulnerable segments of the population as a result of petroleum subsidies. These impacts need to be mitigated as quickly as possible (Muhammad, 2020). During the time in which the petroleum subsidy was eliminated by the Jonathan administration in 2012, a program known as the Subsidy and Reinvestment Empowerment Programme (SURE-P) was devised in order to improve Nigeria's infrastructure and strengthen its social safety net programs shortly after.

Although media investigations have determined that the campaign coordinators who were in charge of the 2011 campaign of President Goodluck Jonathan have been involved in this scheme, it has been confirmed that this scheme was implemented as a result. As a result, these campaign coordinators were responsible for ensuring that the scheme worked properly in order to help Jonathan win the presidency in 2015 (Muhammad, 2020). The SURE-P maintain that they are not in the position to make decisions about awarding contracts, however, many of the projects they execute are related to cronyism.

A recommendation has been made that the savings that will be made by removing fuel subsidies should be invested in critical infrastructure projects and social safety net programs that will directly benefit the Nigerian people as a whole. Hopefully, this will make a difference. It was poorly received by Nigerians when this was announced. There is no doubt that Nigeria is among the top oil producers in the world, yet its flagship product is refined gasoline imported from abroad. There are nearly 1.8 million barrels of crude oil produced by the nation on a daily basis, which is exported to other countries to be refined (CEICdata, 2018). As a result of corruption in management, the refineries at home cannot function at a high level, which is unfortunate. It has been a tradition for the Nigerian government to

subsidize fuel imports in the past as a means of making them affordable for the Nigerian people. There is no tangible benefit that Nigerians perceive as derived from the state other than the availability of cheap petrol. Because of the aforementioned reasons, the removal of the subsidies added to the suffering of Nigeria's poor (Moyo & Songwe, 2012). This is because the prices of transportation, food, and living items would have to go up without the subsidies.

However, fuel subsidies were temporarily reinstated by the Federal Government on January 3, 2012, after widespread protests. This resulted in a spike in the budget by N161 billion to accommodate the subsidy (Houeland, 2020). All in all, this led to the emergence of a revolutionary type of protest: the "Occupy Nigeria" movement. There has been a great deal of attention paid to how the media influences social movements in recent years. This has been a result of Occupy Wall Street and the Arab Spring. It was on Monday, January 2, 2012, that "Occupy Nigeria" began an ideological protest movement in Nigeria (Houeland, 2020). Several protests were held across the country in major cities such as Abuja, Kano, Lagos, Abuja, and others. In many states across the country, residents set fires on highways as a form of protest (Busari, 2012). With the help of social media, the protest soon spread to Washington, Brussels, and the Nigerian High Commission in London as well. As a result of these protests, there have been extensive online activism, strikes, and demonstrations have taken place. It has been extensively used by a number of social media services, such as Twitter and Facebook, to carry out the campaign (Mark, 2012). Whatever the case, ironically, in 2015 M. Buhari, his successor, raised fuel prices by 150%, but at that time, there were no tangible protests by the Occupy Nigeria movement. How did things actually pan out? What is the reason for the media's silence on the same issue they fought over during the administration of Jonathan? There are several aspects of media-driven protests that are discussed in this chapter, including the politics of those protests and the reasons why analysts place more emphasis on the political motivation of those protests than on social issues driving Occupy Nigeria in 2012 (Houeland, 2020).

According to scholars, removing subsidies from the economy was not the solution to the problem (Moyo & Songwe, 2012). Instead, they put a lot of emphasis on strengthening the currency of the country. To help reduce domestic fuel prices and eliminate subsidy programs, it is therefore important to ask how the naira can be strengthened in order to allow domestic fuel prices to be reduced. It is expected that the PMS price will stay at \$1/litre as long as the naira exchange rate remains at N200 = \$1 and the international price remains at \$1/litre. There is a possibility that the current domestic fuel price of N97/liter if left unchanged, will rise to N200/liter, as well as subsidy payments exceeding N4 billion (NBC, 2019). Also, from feedback received on social media, it is equally evident that low-income families oppose fuel price increases, which they consider unfair to them, as can also be seen from the comments they leave on the page. Through the media, the learned and the poor have a common voice to express their concerns regarding the subsidy and what it means for their standard of living.

In the argument posed by the federal government, the removal of the subsidy will result in higher fuel prices for the people, however, they say they will be reinvesting the revenue in order to benefit the people. It is the intention of SURE-P to use the subsidy money for youth empowerment initiatives such as employment, vocational skills, and youth infrastructure. There will be some 25,000 graduates benefitting from the program, and over 6,000 establishments throughout the country will be participating in the program as well (David, 2021).

In spite of the fact that the idea of reinvesting subsidy capital into youth empowerment has been discussed, no meaningful progress has been made toward alleviating youth unemployment in Nigeria. The number of people living below the poverty line among the population was estimated in 2013 to be more than 70 percent, but the situation is still worrying (Sasu, 2022a). A few government officials would later be charged with looting funds from SURE-P by the Economic and Financial Crimes Commission (EFCC). A law enforcement agency in Nigeria called the Economic and Financial Crimes Commission (EFCC) is tasked with investigating financial crimes like advance fee fraud (419 fraud) and

money laundering. Clement Onubuogo, the then Permanent Secretary in the Federal Ministry of Labour and Employment, is suspected to have diverted N664 million from the SURE-P scheme during his tenure as Permanent Secretary of the Federal Ministry of Labour and Employment during the Jonathan administration (Jonathan, 2017). Gabriel Suswam, the former governor of Benue state, was charged separately by the Economic and Financial Crimes Commission (EFCC) for the alleged misappropriation of N9.79 billion from the SURE-P project (Sesan, 2017). There has been a constant plague of graft and corruption in Nigerian governments throughout its history, crippling the nation's development and prosperity at every turn. Therefore, in the case where the administrators of the policies view their role as a way to enrich themselves unethically, the consequences will be disastrous. The World Bank reported that Nigeria still had high poverty levels despite the SURE-P scheme and previous attempts at poverty alleviation (World Bank Group, 2022). SURE P faces numerous challenges, including the fact that it is not compliant with the sustainability standards set forth by the National Assembly, which is one of them (World Bank Group, 2022). As a waste of funds, the National Assembly deemed SURE P to be an ineffective program. As an observation by the National Assembly, road construction by SURE P is the same as what is being done by the Federal Ministry of Works when it comes to building roads around the country. These duplicate projects may raise concerns about funding.

In the same way that Ricardo (2013) argues, the twin events of the Boko Haram bombings and the limitations placed on SURE-P have once again placed the presidency of Goodluck Jonathan in an uncomfortable position. The Boko Haram Islamic militant group has been blamed for a series of violent attacks that have led to dozens of deaths, mostly Christians, throughout Nigeria's largely Muslim north. Many people are concerned that the attacks may spark a civil war based on the belief that violence stems from religion. While in office, Jonathan's administration attempted to diffuse the terrorist group through a variety of efforts. There has been a great deal of difficulty solving the nation's security problems over the past number of years as a result of the guerrilla style of terrorism and top-level corruption on the part of the Nigerian government. Despite this, Nigeria's economy continues to deteriorate and the move to remove fuel subsidies has sparked a nationwide strike protesting the move.

The new media believes that SURE-P was in a sorry state of decay due to corruption, marginalization, and division among members of the National Assembly, all of which contributed to its downfall. According to the Premium Times, there is a widespread belief that the government's program is only intended for members of the government and their families. In spite of the fact that the majority of the projects carried out by SURE-P were awarded to other ministries before its formation, obtaining funds for the organization's programs is a problem, making the empowerment of Nigerian youth virtually impossible due to the lack of funding. At the time Jonathan stepped down from office in 2015, the poverty rate was reported to be 90.8 percent (World Bank, 2016).

### 4.7 President Muhammadu Buhari's Era

The relationship between President Muhammadu Buhari and the media in Nigeria has been fraught with tension and conflict. Buhari, who has been in office since 2015, has been criticized for his authoritarian leadership style and his tendency to suppress dissent and criticism. He has been accused of using the state security forces to intimidate and harass journalists, and several media outlets have been shut down during his tenure. In July 2021, the DSS raided the offices of the Daily Trust newspaper and arrested two journalists for publishing a report on the activities of Boko Haram militants in the northeast1. They were later released without charges. Buhari's government has also faced criticism for its handling of the ongoing Boko Haram insurgency and the rise of insecurity and violence in the country. The media in Nigeria often reports on these issues and has been critical of Buhari's administration (Soyombo, 2021). In response, Buhari and his supporters have accused the media of bias and spreading fake news (Yusuf, 2023). Overall, the relationship between Buhari and the media in Nigeria is marked by tension and mistrust.

On February 26, 2015, M. Buhari gave a speech at Chatham House titled "Prospects for Democratic Consolidation in Africa: Nigeria's Transition." He was the Presidential Candidate of the All Progressives Congress in Nigeria before beating out former President Goodluck Jonathan on May 29th same year:

"...the fall in prices of oil has brought our economic and social stress into full relief. After the rebasing exercise in April 2014, Nigeria overtook South Africa as Africa's largest economy. Our GDP is now valued at \$510 billion and our economy is rated 26th in the world. Also on the bright side, inflation has been kept at single digits for a while and our economy has grown at an average of 7 percent for about a decade. But it is more of paper growth, a growth that, on account of mismanagement, profligacy, and corruption, has not translated into human development or shared prosperity. A development economist once said three questions should be asked about a country's development: One, what is happening to poverty? Two, what is happening to unemployment? And three, what is happening to inequality? The answers to these questions in Nigeria show that the current administration has created two economies in one country, a sorry tale of two nations: one economy for a few who have so much in their tiny island of prosperity; and the other economy for the many who have so little in their vast ocean of misery."

(Chatham House, 2015)

Buhari's speech pointed out the failings of Jonathan's administration while degrading the progress made by the administration. Buhari promised that he would improve Nigerians' lives as well as end corruption and terrorism. Nigerians were hopeful, just as they were with the previous government. He had such a good speech that one could be convinced that he was the salvation of the nation. In addition, his manifestos and campaign materials for the party were made available to the media and public at the time (Ikechukwu-Ibe, Aboh, & Agbedo, 2021). The campaign messages of this party were centered on the motto "CHANGE," delivered via social media in an intense, sweet-toned, and propaganda-like manner. He further noted in his Chatham speech;

In the face of dwindling revenues, a good place to start the repositioning of Nigeria's economy is to swiftly tackle two ills that have ballooned under the present administration: waste and corruption. And in doing this, I will, if elected, lead the way, with the force of personal example. On corruption, there will be no confusion as to where I stand. Corruption will have no place and the corrupt will not be appointed to my administration. First and

foremost, we will plug the holes in the budgetary process....revenues will be publicly disclosed and regularly audited. The institutions of the state dedicated to fighting corruption will be given independence and prosecutorial authority without political interference. But I must emphasize that any war waged on corruption should not be misconstrued as settling old scores or a witch hunt. I'm running for president to lead Nigeria to prosperity and not adversity. In reforming the economy, we will use savings that arise from blocking these leakages and the proceeds recovered from corruption to fund our party's social investments programs in education, health, and safety nets such as free school meals for children, emergency public works for unemployed youth and pensions for the elderly.

However, a number of social welfare interventions have been launched under Buhari's regime and the current administration since it assumed power in 2015. In 2016, the Federal Government of Nigeria established the National Social Investment Programs (NSIPs) to combat poverty and hunger throughout the country (Okino, 2020). A series of programs in the NSIP ensure that resources are distributed more fairly to vulnerable populations, including children, youth, and women. According to the organization's website, "these programs have supported more than 4 million beneficiaries country-wide through a fair and transparent process supported by the Ministry of Budget and National Planning (MBNP) as well as other notable MDAs with similar objectives."

In order to combat poverty and boost economic development, the organization offers four programs.

- 1. With N-Power (Nigeria), young Nigerians receive job training and education, as well as a monthly stipend of 30,000 Nigerian naira (USD \$83.33).
- 2. Through the Conditional Cash Transfer program, the poorest can receive no-strings-attached cash, increasing consumption, reducing poverty, improving nutrition, and self-sustaining themselves.

- 3. The Government Enterprise and Empowerment Program (GEEP) is a microlending investment program aimed at young and female entrepreneurs. With the help of this program, start-up costs for businesses in Nigeria can be reduced because no interest is charged to its beneficiaries.
- 4. The Home Grown School Feeding Program (HGSF) is a means of increasing school enrollment by providing meals to schoolchildren, particularly those living in poverty and food-insecure regions. Local farmers partner with the program, which empowers women to cook professionally, sustaining the community and fostering economic growth.

The HomeGrown School Feeding program probably took some inspiration from Thailand. Thailand developed a nutrition policy involving poverty alleviation and rural development, in addition to primary health care. Thus, its poverty rate dropped from 27 percent to 9 percent. During the same period, Thailand's rate of underweight children fell by nearly 10%. ("N-SIP - NATIONAL SOCIAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME," 2016)

On the other hand, there were controversies over the Modified Home-Grown School Feeding Programme in Nigeria, which shares the same name as that of Thailand.

- 1. The vendors complained that the prices of food are too high, and they are not even being paid enough to cover the cost of the food (Awojobi, 2020).
- 2. During the Covid pandemic, there was a protest that Haji Sadiya Farouq, the Minister of Humanitarian Affairs, carried out a quirky feeding program when schools were closed, claiming that the Presidency directed her ministry to do so. According to her, she is responsible for providing feeding support to 3.5 million households rather than students (Odunsi, 2020).
- 3. Even though the feeding program is in effect during the COVID pandemic, according to the Minister of Humanitarian Affairs, the Independent Corrupt Practices and Other Related

Offences Commission (ICPC) reported that N2.67 billion meant for the feeding of school children during the lockdown were diverted to private accounts (News Agency Of Nigeria, 2020).

"2019 Poverty and Inequality in Nigeria" reports that 40 percent of the total population lives below the poverty line of 137,430 naira (\$381.75) per year (National Bureau of Statistics, 2019). Nigeria has the second-largest population living in extreme poverty (86 million people). India has the first with 218 million, and the Congo (DRC) is third with 55 million (Katayama & Wadhwa, 2019). Alhaji Lai Mohammed, Nigeria's Minister of Information and Culture, says the government is aware of the problem and is working on providing more than 500,000 new jobs to young people (Opejobi, 2016). In his remarks, Muhammad noted that the N-Power program has provided more than 200,000 young Nigerians with jobs in schools, clinics, and farming centers. N-Power was first launched on June 8, 2016, to reduce youth unemployment and increase social development. However, over 500,000 N-Power beneficiaries have been told that their contracts will be terminated, leaving them jobless (Ekanem, 2023). In Nigeria, unemployment is a major cause of poverty, and many people lack employment opportunities. According to the World Bank, education is no longer a guarantee of employment in Africa, especially with higher education (BENTIL & TAN, 2022). In Nigeria, there are many highly qualified graduates without jobs because the government does not want to hire them. Poverty leads to crime. Because of unemployment, some young people resort to crimes like armed robbery and internet fraud, while others try to earn a living through their vocational skills.

#### **4.7.1 #ENDSARS**

The #ENDSARS movement in Nigeria began on social media, with young Nigerians using platforms like Twitter and Instagram to share their experiences of police brutality and corruption. The movement was started by a group of young Nigerians who were fed up with the abuses committed by the Special Anti-Robbery Squad (SARS), a unit of the Nigerian police force. The movement quickly gained traction, with thousands of people joining the cause and using the hashtag #ENDSARS to raise awareness of the issue. The movement

called for the disbandment of SARS and an end to police brutality and corruption in Nigeria. Protests and demonstrations soon followed, with people across the country taking to the streets to demand change (Kadıoğlu, 2021).

The movement does not directly address the issue of poverty, but it is possible that poverty may be a contributing factor in the widespread corruption and abuse within the police force. Poverty in Nigeria is a widespread problem, with more than half of the country's population living in poverty. It is possible that the lack of opportunities and resources in the country may lead some individuals to engage in corrupt practices, including those within the police force.

A Marxist view of public opinion holds that inequality is a major cause of poverty and that it is a consequence of capitalism (Mayer, 2020). Any society with inequality will always suffer from poverty. It is more common for poor people in societies where inequality is accepted. He envisioned a collapse of the property-owning bourgeoisie, which would be ruled by the people. Thus, economic factors would no longer govern the public sphere, and social interactions would be more personal. Due to the increased participation, coordination was lost; instead of a single group, many now had access to the program; there was now a competitive environment. Marx viewed the expanded public as a powerful force (Mayer, 2020). During the liberal and Marxist eras, both parties felt trapped between the state and an unsteady public. With the disappearance or division of the civil society movement, Marxist analysis and understanding of poverty in Nigeria seem to have lost traction. The public sphere expanded in an unstable and unpredictable manner. In Nigeria, however, global inequality is reflected in the political economy. Through colonialism and neoliberal capitalism, Nigeria and other African countries became entangled in global capitalism. As long as Africa has existed, it has played a central role in the distribution and redistribution of resources (Jessop, 2012).

The #EndSARS protest represents an unprecedented point in the history of popular struggles in Nigeria. Young people have been written off as preoccupied with the primitive

accumulation of wealth, but the #EndSARS protest has largely disappeared divisions along ethnicity and religion. Protests against police brutality evolved into protests against impunity and deprivation, and the protesters' battle cry included #Buhari must go. The Lekki Massacre of October 20 was the peak of the vicious attacks on the protesters. 12 peaceful protesters were killed in cold blood. The Lekki Massacre and killings in other states highlight the question of whether ordinary people who were protesting are slaves without rights or citizens who have the right to protest (Uluç Kadıoğlu, 2021).

In the past, anti-military dictatorship struggles involved mass protests, but the #EndSARS movement has announced a new and glorious phase in mass struggles in Nigeria via the social media. The #EndSARS movement has been a powerful example of how effective grassroots organizing can be when it is combined with the power of social media (Uluç Kadıoğlu, 2021). Through the use of social media, the organizers of the #EndSARS movement have been able to spread the message of their cause and mobilize people from all over the country to take part in the protests. Social media has given the movement a platform to share stories and evidence of deprivation, bad governance and police brutality, making it easier for people to understand the cause and join the struggle. Social media has also enabled the protesters to coordinate their activities, share updates and news, and organize events such as marches, rallies and fundraisers. With the help of social media, the #EndSARS movement has become a global phenomenon and has had a profound impact on the fight against police brutality in Nigeria.

Currently, Nigerians are asking questions about President Muhammadu Buhari's social welfare intervention program, which is considered one of Africa's largest social protection schemes, allocating more than \$1 billion annually to improve the lives of Nigeria's poorest and most vulnerable citizens (Sanni, 2019). Despite initial fears in Nigeria about COVID, the number of cases and deaths did not exceed the levels that were expected when the virus first emerged in February 2020 (Human Rights Watch, 2020). However, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in severe economic hardship, and the World Bank expects that an additional 10.9

million Nigerians will enter poverty by 2022 because of the crisis. Due to the lack of a social security system to provide assistance to households that lost their jobs and income during the crisis, Nigeria was particularly susceptible to the economic impact of COVID-19 (Lain & Vishwanath, 2020).

Nigeria's new president, Muhammadu Buhari, promised to diversify the country's oil-dependent economy by investing in agriculture and encouraging farmers in 2015. Moreover, the government has urged Nigerians to "grow what they eat and eat what they grow" to improve food security. 2021 saw the highest food prices in over a decade. Several factors contribute to the price hike in agricultural commodities, including fluctuations in consumer and seller income, seasonality, and farmers' poor response to price changes. According to Ososanya (2019), it is important to note that the continuous rise in food prices in Nigeria since 2019 shows that the government's policy of border closure failed to achieve its goal. Nigeria is grappling with rising food prices, as reflected in the spike in inflation. The annual inflation rate accelerated for a sixth straight month to 19.64% in July 2022, the highest rate since February 2018. The main driver of inflation is the food component, which accounts for more than 50% of the consumer price index basket (Nwokoma, 2022). Nigeria closed its borders with neighboring West African countries in August 2019 to encourage local agricultural production. The protectionist policy did not increase local production, but only enriched a few at the expense of the majority of consumers. The steadily rising cost of food has forced many Nigerian households to forgo meals because they cannot afford them anymore. SBM Intelligence, a research firm, cited this feeding burden in its March 2021 Jollof rice index. As of March 2021, a pot of jollof rice costs N7,400, an increase of 81 percent over the N4,087 it cost in July 2016 (SBM, 2021). A Nigerian earning a minimum wage of N30,000 will now have to sacrifice 25 percent of their salary in order to make jollof rice just for a meal. Jollof rice is popular in West Africa. Rice, tomatoes, onions, spices, vegetables, and meat are typically used as its ingredients. Until recent price hikes, these ingredients were affordable, so jollof rice was one of the cheapest foods to prepare.

In response, many Nigerians have turned to social media platforms, such as Twitter and Facebook, to express their opinions and organize protests. However, Buhari's government has been accused of attempting to censor and control social media, and there have been several instances of security forces arresting and detaining people for their social media activity. In 2019, the Social Media Bill was introduced by the Senate of Nigeria in November 2019 and is still under debate as of February 2022 (Mabika & Ogu, 2022). The bill aims to criminalise the use of social media in spreading false or malicious information (Mabika & Ogu, 2022). The bill, which seeks to regulate the use of social media in Nigeria, has sparked controversy among Nigerians who feel it will restrict freedom of speech. The government has argued that the bill is necessary to combat cyber-crime, protect citizens' data, and prevent the spread of false information. The bill also criminalizes the use of social media to spread hate speech, insult people, and threaten national security. Supporters of the bill argue that it is necessary to protect citizens and ensure their safety online. Critics of the bill believe that it is a form of censorship and could be used to silence political dissent.

The Social Media Bill has generated much debate in Nigeria since it was passed. On the one hand, the bill is necessary to protect individuals from cyber-crime and hate speech, as well as to prevent the spread of false information. On the other hand, it has been seen as a form of censorship and could be used to suppress freedom of speech. Despite the controversy, it is important to remember that the Social Media Bill does not prevent citizens from using social media platforms, but rather seeks to ensure that it is used responsibly and in a way that does not harm or violate the rights of others. Overall, the relationship between Buhari and social media in Nigeria is marked by tension and conflict. Nigerian online news cimmunity has a storied history. Recently analysed data shows that Nigeria's security agents play a role in these hazards. In the decade betLaw enforcement and military in Nigeria have been involved in torture, extortion and murder.

The relationship between President Muhammadu Buhari and the media in Nigeria has been fraught with tension and conflict. Buhari, who has been in office since 2015, has been criticized for his authoritarian leadership style and his tendency to suppress dissent and

criticism. He has been accused of using the state security forces to intimidate and harass journalists, and several media outlets have been shut down during his tenure. Buhari's government has also faced criticism for its handling of the ongoing Boko Haram insurgency and the rise of insecurity and violence in the country. The media in Nigeria often reports on these issues and has been critical of Buhari's administration (AfricaNews, 2021). In response, Buhari and his supporters have accused the media of bias and spreading fake news. Overall, the relationship between Buhari and the media in Nigeria is marked by tension and mistrust.

## 4.8 History of Violence Against Journalists & Media Workers

Since 1997, over 179 cases of violence against journalists and media workers have been recorded in Nigeria, with 78 fatalities (UNESCO, 2021). The Nigerian Police and Military have contributed to the violence against journalists. Nigeria's security agencies contributed 9.5% of civilian deaths within a two-decade period, and in essence, aided terrorists and assailants to raise the death toll on innocent Nigerians. Between 1997 and 2020, there have been 179 cases of violence resulting in 78 fatalities against journalists and media workers. The prevalence of violence increased for the last two years on record. Lagos had the highest number of cases of violence against journalists, while Kogi State had the lowest number of cases. Abuja Municipal had the highest number of cases (UNESCO, 2021). The data revealed that An Unidentified Armed Group perpetrated 51 cases of violence against journalists, while the Nigerian Police perpetrated 26 cases (UNESCO, 2021). Law enforcement and the military in Nigeria have been involved in torture, extortion and murder. Their actions question the very existence of press freedom in Nigeria.

The Nigerian government keeps throwing the word 'regulation' to curtail the rights of free speech and television broadcast, and the National Broadcasting Commission has also issued unconstitutional fines to television stations for "unprofessional coverage" of EndSARS protests (Amnesty International, 2021). The back-and-forth between Lagos and Federal government officials raises a few eyebrows. So who is the purveyor of fake news? Human

rights organization Amnesty International said the government used legislative tools to harass journalists, bloggers and media activists.

# 4.9 The Capitalist and the Anti-Feminist Effect

However, many politicians and business moguls in Nigeria have been known to use their influence to influence media coverage of their activities from day one. Many outlets have accepted payments from politicians and business moguls in exchange for favorable coverage of their activities that may not contribute to the populace's living conditions. By diverting attention from social issues to trivial issues such as party news, which achieve no economic goals. Random blogs were the 'news' sources on the internet that served various segments, including lifestyle, gossip, and success stories. Some Nigerian social media urban pages have become mainstream as a source of escapist news, followed by online money-focussed convenient news sites modeled after traditional media, but offering features such as convenience, interactivity, and, in some cases, real-time updates on urban gossip. As the internet has become increasingly accessible in Nigeria, more people are turning to social media for news and entertainment (Nwammuo, 2011). There are now a vast array of platforms to choose from, allowing users to explore their interests, share opinions, and engage in conversations. Social media has become a source of escapism for Nigerians, providing them with a way to take a break from everyday life and engage with the outside world.

Lara, (2019) argues that Habermas failed to consider the non-liberal, non-bourgeois public, which is a great oversight that excludes those who do not conform to the bourgeois public life. Furthermore, the exclusion of women from the public sphere is evidence of the bias of the bourgeois public life, which further excludes diversity and perpetuates inequality. The exclusion of women from the public sphere is a direct manifestation of the gender inequality that is deeply rooted in the capitalist system (Lara, 2019). This exclusion is perpetuated by the belief that the public sphere is a realm that is traditionally reserved for men, and that women do not belong in this realm. This bias has allowed for the underrepresentation of women in the public sphere and has created a culture of inequality. Furthermore, this

exclusion of women from the public sphere has contributed to the marginalization of other marginalized groups, such as people of color, LGBTQ+ people, and those with disabilities. This bias has been further perpetuated by the lack of economic resources available to women and the lack of access to education and other opportunities that would enable them to participate in the public sphere. As a result, the exclusion of women from the public sphere continues to perpetuate inequality and limit diversity.

There is a general lack of diversity in Nigerian media as most outlets are owned by wealthy individuals or corporations (Momoh, 2022). This has resulted in a lack of representation of minority voices and perspectives in the media landscape. This has resulted in a lack of diverse voices and perspectives in Nigerian media. As such, there has been a push in recent years to diversify the media landscape in the country. This has included initiatives such as the creation of media outlets that are owned by and/or cater to indigenous people, as well as the establishment of media outlets that are owned by women and people of different religious backgrounds. Additionally, there have been efforts to increase the representation of marginalized groups in the media, including those from rural areas, minority ethnicities, and the LGBTQ+ community. These initiatives have had some success, but there is still plenty of room for improvement.

Feminism has the potential to play a major role in Nigerian politics and poverty reduction, but it is not being effectively used to promote these goals. Despite the fact that women make up over half of the population, they are still underrepresented in politics and decision-making processes. This means that the interests of women are often not taken into account when policies are created and implemented. Women are often portrayed in a negative light in Nigerian media, which perpetuates damaging stereotypes. This can have a negative impact on poverty reduction efforts, as women are less likely to be seen as capable of taking on leadership roles or contributing to poverty reduction initiatives.

In addition, there are a number of cultural and social barriers that prevent women from participating in politics and decision-making processes. These include a lack of education,

societal expectations, and unequal access to resources. Furthermore, there is a lack of financial resources available to support women's participation in politics and decision-making.

In order to effectively use feminism to address Nigerian politics and poverty reduction, it is necessary to remove these barriers and create a more equitable and just society where women can participate in decision-making and have equal access to resources. This includes providing better education and access to resources, creating equal opportunities for women in the workplace, and addressing the cultural and social attitudes that lead to gender inequality (Reddy & Moletsane, 2009). It is also important to ensure that women are represented in politics and decision-making processes. Ultimately, these changes will create an environment in which women can play an active role in poverty reduction and the political process.

## 5.0 Conclusion

As one of the world's most dominant forces, social media has allowed the new, digital capitalism to make sense of the public sphere. While critics claim that digital media gives people the illusion of being part of society by posting content to chat forums, they are actually posting fragments of content to the web. Critics of digital media hold this view. As Dean (2019) argues, our messages are now detached from their literal contexts, so they no longer have any connection to a circulating stream of information that develops over time. Instead, they become simply a part of the ever-burgeoning flood of information (Dean, 2019).

A concerted effort by stakeholders, the public, and the media can alleviate poverty, as explained in the study. This argument suggests that a collaborative effort between different groups and individuals can help address the issue of poverty. The stakeholders referred to are likely organizations or individuals who have a vested interest in addressing poverty, such as governments, NGOs, and community groups. The public refers to the general population,

and their involvement in efforts to alleviate poverty could involve donating money, volunteering, or raising awareness about the issue. The media, in this context, refers to news outlets and journalists who can use their platform to inform the public about poverty and promote solutions and initiatives to address it. Generally speaking, the argument suggests that a collective and coordinated effort from these different groups can lead to progress in reducing poverty.

According to the findings of the study, several poverty alleviation programs, introduced in the past and currently implemented by governments, are facing many obstacles that are preventing them from reaching their goals. It is clear that the country is facing several challenges, such as inadequate funding, corruption, poor management and supervision, an inability to access reliable data, political instability, poor infrastructure facilities, a lack of transparency and accountability, and inadequate policies for microeconomic development.

The media in Nigeria often highlights the poverty challenges facing the country, including widespread unemployment, inadequate access to education and healthcare, and inadequate infrastructure. However, media coverage often focuses on high-profile cases or sensationalized stories, rather than providing in-depth analysis or solutions to the root causes of poverty (Roberts, 2020). This type of reporting ignores the more systemic issues perpetuating poverty, such as unequal access to education, healthcare, and employment opportunities. It also fails to take a holistic approach to understanding poverty and its effects on individuals, families, and communities. By doing so, it perpetuates the false idea that poverty is the result of individual failings.

Additionally, the media can be influenced by political interests, leading to biased or incomplete reporting on poverty issues (Jean-Noel, 2019). This is especially true in countries where the media is under government control or where regulations are in place to limit reporting on poverty-related issues. In such cases, the media may be prevented from reporting on certain aspects of poverty, which can lead to a misinformed public.

However, the new media in Nigeria plays a role in raising awareness about poverty challenges, but it may not always provide a comprehensive or unbiased perspective on these issues. Media politics toward poverty challenges in Nigeria tends to focus on highlighting the government's failure to address the issue and the negative effects of poverty on the population. There is often a focus on corruption within the government and the unequal distribution of wealth, with an emphasis on the need for change and policy reform. The media also often highlights the efforts of non-governmental organizations and individuals working to alleviate poverty in the country. Accordingly, the media portrays poverty in Nigeria as a pervasive and urgent issue that requires immediate attention and action.

It is generally believed, however, that the media can play an important role in raising awareness about poverty and promoting transparency and accountability in government efforts to reduce poverty. Luengo and García-Marín (2020) suggest that a free and independent media can serve as a check on the actions of politicians and hold them accountable to the public. Investigating and reporting on government policies and programs, and holding politicians accountable for their actions, a free and independent media can play a crucial role in promoting transparency and accountability in government efforts to reduce poverty. Nevertheless, media coverage can also be biased or misleading due to political and economic interests. The public may lose trust in the media and government if they are influenced by political or economic interests. It is important for media outlets to be transparent about their funding sources, and for the public to be critical consumers of news, in order to ensure that the information they receive is accurate and unbiased.

The public should be critical of news outlets and transparent about their funding sources. Poverty reduction in Nigeria will likely require a multifaceted approach that includes economic growth, improved governance, and targeted social programs.

## REFERENCES

- Abdullah, A. (2020, November 9). With 179 cases of violence against Journalists, is the Press Free?

  Retrieved from Dataphyte website:

  https://www.dataphyte.com/latest-reports/security/with-179-cases-of-violence-against-journal ists-is-the-press-free/
- Adams, S., & Mengistu, B. (2008). The Political Economy of Privatization in Sub-Saharan Africa\*. Social Science Quarterly, 89(1), 78–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6237.2008.00522.x
- Adenle, Y. I. (2020). ROLE OF MASS MEDIA ON NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT.pdf.

  \*Www.academia.edu\*. Retrieved from

  https://www.academia.edu/34325046/ROLE\_OF\_MASS\_MEDIA\_ON\_NATIONAL\_DEVE

  LOPMENT\_pdf
- Adut, A. (2012). (PDF) A Theory of the Public Sphere. Retrieved from ResearchGate website: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258190380 A Theory of the Public Sphere
- Africa Portal. (2017). Q&A: All you need to know about Nigeria's Not Too Young To Run campaign. Retrieved from Africa Portal website:

  https://www.africaportal.org/features/q-nigerias-not-too-young-run-campaign/

Retrieved from Africanews website:

- AfricaNews. (2021). Nigeria's Buhari faces backlash over worsening insecurity under his watch.
  - https://www.africanews.com/2021/04/30/nigeria-s-buhari-faces-backlash-over-worsening-ins ecurity-under-his-watch/
- Akintaro, S. (2022, May 15). MTN says 60 million of its customers have linked their NIN. Retrieved from Nairametrics website:

- https://nairametrics.com/2022/05/15/mtn-says-60-million-of-its-customers-have-linked-their-nin/
- Amnesty International. (2019, December 4). Nigeria is considering incredibly harsh punishments for social media users who criticize the government. Retrieved from Amnesty International website:
  - https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/press-release/2019/12/nigeria-bills-on-hate-speech-and-so cial-media-are-dangerous-attacks-on-freedom-of-expression/
- Amnesty International. (2021, February 8). #EndSARS movement: from Twitter to Nigerian Streets.

  Retrieved from Amnesty International website:

  https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/campaigns/2021/02/nigeria-end-impunity-for-police-viole nce-by-sars-endsars/
- André Queirós, Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017a). STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF

  QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE RESEARCH METHODS. European Journal of

  Education Studies, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.46827/ejes.v0i0.1017
- André Queirós, Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017b). STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF

  QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE RESEARCH METHODS. European Journal of

  Education Studies, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.46827/ejes.v0i0.1017
- Apostolopoulou, G. (2019). HABERMAS PUBLIC SPHERE BOOK! Retrieved November 30, 2022, from Academia.edu website:
- https://www.academia.edu/37016152/HABERMAS\_PUBLIC\_SPHERE\_BOOK\_
- Ashby, T. (2007, May 29). Yar'Adua takes helm of crisis-ridden Nigeria. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from U.S. website:
  - https://www.reuters.com/article/us-nigeria-2/yaradua-takes-helm-of-crisis-ridden-nigeria-idU SL2963095620070529

- Awojobi, O. (2020). (PDF) Impact Evaluation of National Home-Grown School Feeding Programme in Nigeria: Preliminary Findings from a Mixed-Methods Approach. Retrieved from ResearchGate website:

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/342881116\_Impact\_Evaluation\_of\_National\_Home
  -Grown\_School\_Feeding\_Programme\_in\_Nigeria\_Preliminary\_Findings\_from\_a\_Mixed-Methods Approach
- Barns, S. (2017, December 12). Surprise! Digital space isn't replacing public space, and might even help make it better. Retrieved November 30, 2022, from The Conversation website:

  https://theconversation.com/surprise-digital-space-isnt-replacing-public-space-and-might-even-help-make-it-better-87173
- BBC. (2007, August 7). Nigeria blocks huge clinic deal. *News.bbc.co.uk*. Retrieved from http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/africa/6934794.stm
- Bennett, W. L., & Livingston, S. (2018). The disinformation order: Disruptive communication and the decline of democratic institutions. *European Journal of Communication*, *33*(2), 122–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323118760317
- BENTIL, E. N., & TAN, J.-P. (2022). Empowering Africa's youth to thrive in a digital economy.

  Retrieved from blogs.worldbank.org website:

  https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/empowering-africas-youth-thrive-digital-economy
- Benyon, D. (2014). Spaces of Interaction, Places for Experience. *Synthesis Lectures on Human-Centered Informatics*, 7(2), 1–129. https://doi.org/10.2200/s00595ed1v01y201409hci022
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27–40. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027
- Brink, H. I. L. (1993). Validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Curationis*, *16*(2). https://doi.org/10.4102/curationis.v16i2.1396

- Brock, J. (2012, April 26). UPDATE 4-Suicide car bombs hit Nigerian newspaper offices. *Reuters*.

  Retrieved from

  https://www.reuters.com/article/nigeria-bomb/update-4-suicide-car-bombs-hit-nigerian-news
  paper-offices-idUSL6E8FQ8AU20120426
- Bruns, A. (2003). Gatewatching, Not Gatekeeping: Collaborative Online News. *Media International Australia Incorporating Culture and Policy*, *107*(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878x0310700106
- Busari, S. (2012, January 6). Nigeria unions urge strike over fuel. Retrieved from CNN website: https://edition.cnn.com/2012/01/06/world/africa/nigeria-fuel-protest-explained/index.html
- By Nduka Orjinmo. (2022, October 22). Nigeria's stolen oil, the military and a man named Government. Retrieved January 10, 2023, from BBC News website: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-63314545
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The Use of Triangulation in Qualitative Research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(5), 545–547. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Castells, M. (2008). The New Public Sphere: Global Civil Society, Communication Networks, and Global Governance. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 616(1), 78–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716207311877
- CEICdata.com. (2018, June 1). Nigeria Crude Oil: Exports. Retrieved from Ceicdata.com website: https://www.ceicdata.com/en/indicator/nigeria/crude-oil-exports
- Cela, E. (2015, August 30). Social Media as a New Form of Public Sphere. Retrieved November 30, 2022, from ResearchGate website:

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318536837\_Social\_Media\_as\_a\_New\_Form\_of\_Public Sphere

- Chibuwe, A. (2012). The digital public sphere: challenges for media policy. *Critical Arts*, *26*(4), 621–627. https://doi.org/10.1080/02560046.2012.723853
- Dahlgren, P. (2005). The Internet, Public Spheres, and Political Communication: Dispersion and Deliberation. *Political Communication*, *22*(2), 147–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584600590933160
- Dapel, Z. (2018). Three Decades of Poverty Mobility in Nigeria: The Trapped, the Freed, and the Never Trapped. Retrieved from https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/three-decades-poverty-mobility-nigeria-trapped-free d-and-never-trapped.pdf
- David. (2021, November 25). We've trained 25,000 children, 6,000 graduates across Nigeria Rochas Foundation. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Sunnewsonline.com website:

  https://www.sunnewsonline.com/weve-trained-25000-children-6000-graduates-across-nigeria
  -rochas-foundation/
- De Angelis, G. (2021). Habermas, democracy and the public sphere: Theory and practice. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 24(4), 437–447. https://doi.org/10.1177/13684310211038753
- Dean, J. (2019). Communicative Capitalism and Revolutionary Form. *Millennium: Journal of International Studies*, 47(3), 326–340. https://doi.org/10.1177/0305829819840624
- Demarest, L., Godefroidt, A., & Langer, A. (2020). Understanding News Coverage of
  Religious-based Violence: Empirical and Theoretical Insights from Media Representations of
  Boko Haram in Nigeria. *Journal of Communication*, 70(4).
  https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqaa011
- Disinformation and "fake news": Final Report Eighth Report of Session 2017-19 Report, together with formal minutes relating to the report. (2019). Retrieved from https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcumeds/1791/1791.pdf

- Ekanem, I. (2023). Are Govt's Social Intervention Programmes Yielding Dividends? –

  THISDAYLIVE. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from Thisdaylive.com website:

  https://www.thisdaylive.com/index.php/2020/10/04/are-govts-social-intervention-programme
  s-yielding-dividends/
- Emirbayer, M., & Sheller, M. (1998). Publics in history. *Theory and Society*, *27*(6), 727–779. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1006957015604
- Etieyibo, E. (2011). Privatization in Nigeria, Social Welfare, and the Obligation of Social Justice. *Journal of Economics*, 2(1), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/09765239.2011.11884935
- Feng, Y. (2001). Politics and Development. *Journal of Democracy*, *12*(1), 170–174. https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2001.0006
- Ferree, M. M., Gamson, W. A., Gerhards, J., & Rucht, D. (2002). Four Models of the Public Sphere in Modern Democracies. *Theory and Society*, *31*(3), 289–324. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/658129
- Financial Express. (2021). Remembering "Netaji" on his birth anniversary: A look back at Subhash

  Chandra Bose's contribution to India's freedom. Retrieved March 10, 2021, from Financial

  Express website:

  https://www.financialexpress.com/lifestyle/remembering-netaji-on-his-birth-anniversary-a-lo
- Flynn, D. J., Nyhan, B., & Reifler, J. (2017). The Nature and Origins of Misperceptions:

  Understanding False and Unsupported Beliefs about Politics. *Political Psychology*, *38*(S1), 127–150. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12394

ok-back-at-subhash-chandra-boses-contribution-to-indias-freedom/2177164/

Fraser, N. (2012). Rethinking the public sphere: A contribution to the critique of actually existing ....

\*\*Social Text.\*\* Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/71060531/Rethinking\_the\_public\_sphere\_A\_contribution\_to\_the critique of actually existing

- Gabriel, J., Ogbuigwe, T., & Ahiauzu, L. (2016). Online Shopping Systems in Nigeria: Evolution,

  Trend and Prospects. *Asian Research Journal of Arts & Social Sciences*, *I*(4), 1–7.

  https://doi.org/10.9734/arjass/2016/29170
- Garrett, R. K. (2009). Echo chambers online?: Politically motivated selective exposure among Internet news users. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *14*(2), 265–285. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009.01440.x
- George, G. (2021, September 4). Nigerians battle extreme poverty amid many FG's alleviation schemes. Retrieved from Punch Newspapers website:

  https://punchng.com/nigerians-battle-extreme-poverty-amid-many-fgs-alleviation-schemes/
- Godfrey, E., & Berman, R. (2019, July 2). How Women Remade American Government After Suffrage. Retrieved from The Atlantic website:
  - https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2019/07/how-women-remade-american-govern ment-after-suffrage/591940/
- GOODWIN, L. D., & GOODWIN, W. L. (2020). Qualitative Vs. Quantitative Research or Qualitative and Quantitative Research? *Nursing Research*, *33*(6), 378–384.
- Guillaumont, P., & Wagner, L. (2014). Aid Effectiveness for Poverty Reduction: Lessons from

  Cross-country Analyses, with a Special Focus on Vulnerable Countries. *Revue d'Economie Du Developpement*, 22(HS01). Retrieved from

  https://www.cairn.info/revue-d-economie-du-developpement-2014-HS01-page-217.html
- Haas, T. (2004). The Public Sphere as a Sphere of Publics: Rethinking Habermas's Theory of the Public Sphere. *Journal of Communication*, *54*(1), 178–184. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2004.tb02621.x
- Häussler, T. (2017). *The Media and the Public Sphere*. Routledge.

- Hoover Green, A., & Cohen, D. K. (2020). Centering Human Subjects: The Ethics of "Desk Research" on Political Violence. *Journal of Global Security Studies*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/jogss/ogaa029
- Horrigan, J. B., & Rainie, L. (2015, April 21). Americans' Views on Open Government Data.

  Retrieved from Pew Research Center: Internet, Science & Tech website:

  https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2015/04/21/open-government-data/
- Houeland, C. (2020). Contentious and institutional politics in a petro-state: Nigeria's 2012 fuel subsidy protests. *The Extractive Industries and Society*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2020.05.010
- Human Rights Watch. (2020, April 14). Nigeria: Protect Most Vulnerable in COVID-19 Response.

  Retrieved from Human Rights Watch website:

  https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/14/nigeria-protect-most-vulnerable-covid-19-response
- Hussaini, M. (2014). (PDF) POVERTY ALLEVIATION PROGRAMS IN NIGERIA: ISSUES AND CHALLENGES. Retrieved from ResearchGate website:

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/316701170\_POVERTY\_ALLEVIATION\_PROGR
  AMS\_IN\_NIGERIA\_ISSUES\_AND\_CHALLENGES
- Ighoshemu, B. O., & Ogidiagba, U. B. (2022). Poor governance and massive unemployment in Nigeria: as causes of brain drain in the Buhari administration (2015-2020). *Insights into Regional Development*, 4(2), 73–84. https://doi.org/10.9770/ird.2022.4.2(6)
- Ikechukwu-Ibe, C. J., Aboh, S. C., & Agbedo, C. U. (2021). Pragmatic Analysis of Presidential

  Campaign Manifestos of Muhammadu Buhari and Donald Trump. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 11(8), 952–961. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1108.11
- IPSOS. (2019). Public satisfaction and priorities Global Infrastructure Index 2019 G8 Global.

  Retrieved from

- https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2019-11/global-infrastructure-index-2019.pdf
- Iwuoha, V. C., & Obi, K. C. (2012). Eradicating or Aggravating Poverty?: An Evaluation of the National Poverty Eradication Programme (Napep) in Enugu State, Nigeria, 2001 2007. Singaporean Journal of Business, Economics and Management Studies, 1(2), 39–54. https://doi.org/10.12816/0003739
- Jean-Noel, K. (2019, February 2). The Relationship Between the Media and Politics | Poor

  Coverage. Retrieved from sites.psu.edu website:

  https://sites.psu.edu/kaitlincivic/2019/02/02/the-relationship-between-the-media-and-politics/
- Jessop, B. (2012). Obstacles to a world state in the shadow of the world market. *Cooperation and Conflict*, 47(2), 200–219. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836712443172
- Jessop, B., & Calhoun, C. (1993). Habermas and the Public Sphere. *Contemporary Sociology*, 22(4), 614. https://doi.org/10.2307/2074464
- Jonathan, Z. (2017, October 4). N664m SURE-P fraud: EFCC re-arrests permanent secretary in court. Retrieved January 7, 2021, from Punch Newspapers website:

  https://punchng.com/n664m-sure-p-fraud-efcc-re-arrests-permanent-secretary-in-court/
- Kapoor, K. K., Tamilmani, K., Rana, N. P., Patil, P., Dwivedi, Y. K., & Nerur, S. (2017). Advances in Social Media Research: Past, Present and Future. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 20(3), 531–558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-017-9810-y
- Katayama, R., & Wadhwa, D. (2019, January 16). Half of the world's poor live in just 5 countries.

  Retrieved from The Data Blog website:

  https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/half-world-s-poor-live-just-5-countries
- Keita, M. (2013, February 14). Attacks on the Press: Between Insurgents, Governments. Retrieved March 6, 2022, from Committee to Protect Journalists website:
  https://cpj.org/2013/02/attacks-on-the-press-between-insurgents-government/

- Lain, J., & Vishwanath, T. (2020). COVID-19 and Welfare in Nigeria: New Evidence for Policy.

  Retrieved from

  https://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/961791611161231868/pdf/COVID-19-and-Welfare-in-Nig
  eria-New-Evidence-for-Policy-October-2020.pdf
- Lara, M. (2019, August 11). Los Angeles Review of Books. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from Los Angeles Review of Books website:
  - https://lareviewofbooks.org/article/habermass-concept-public-sphere-new-feminist-agenda/
- Leadership. (2022, May 29). Leadership News Nigeria News, Nigerian Newspaper, Breaking News and more. Retrieved November 23, 2022, from Leadership website:

  https://leadership.ng/2019/03/05/nigerias-internet-users-hit-113-8m-in-january-ncc/
- Livingstone, S., & Lunt, P. (2013). *The mass media, democracy and the public sphere Book section*.

  Retrieved from
  - https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/48964/1/Amended%20\_Livingstone\_Mass\_media\_democaracy.pdf
- Loo, E. (2003). Bias in the Media. *Media Asia*, *30*(3), 123–126. https://doi.org/10.1080/01296612.2003.11726710
- Luengo, M., & García-Marín, D. (2020). The performance of truth: politicians, fact-checking journalism, and the struggle to tackle COVID-19 misinformation. *American Journal of Cultural Sociology*. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41290-020-00115-w
- Mabika, V., & Ogu, E. (2022, February). Internet Impact Brief: Nigeria's Protection from Internet Falsehood and Manipulation Bill 2019. Retrieved from Internet Society website:

  https://www.internetsociety.org/resources/2022/internet-impact-brief-nigerias-protection-from-internet-falsehood-and-manipulation-bill-2019/
- Mac-Ozigbo, A. (2021). INFLUENCE OF DIGITAL ADVERTISING ON SOCIAL MEDIA BRAND AWARENESS IN NIGERIA. *UNIZIK JOURNAL of BUSINESS*, *4*(1). https://doi.org/10.36108/unizikjb/1202.40.0150

- Malumfashi, S. (2020, October 22). Nigeria's SARS: A brief history of the Special Anti-Robbery Squad. Retrieved from www.aljazeera.com website:

  https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2020/10/22/sars-a-brief-history-of-a-rogue-unit
- Mark, M. (2012, January 8). Nigeria faces mass strike and protests over discontinued state fuel subsidy. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/jan/08/nigeria-fuel-strike-seun-kuti
- Mayer, A. (2020). How Nigeria's Left Helped Shape the Country's History. Retrieved February 9, 2021, from jacobin.com website:

  https://jacobin.com/2020/06/nigeria-socialism-marxist-history/
- McLaughlin, L. (2020). Feminism, Media, and the Public Sphere. *The International Encyclopedia of Gender, Media, and Communication*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119429128.iegmc018
- McQuail, D. (2010). McQuail's Mass Communication Theory. SAGE.
- Mebawondu, J. O., Mebawondu, J. O., Atsanan, A. N., & Suleiman, M. N. (2012). THE IMPACT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ON POVERTY ALLEVIATION IN NIGERIA.

  Continental J. Information Technology, 6(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.5707/cjit.2012.6.1.1.15
- Milner, H. V. (2021). Is Global Capitalism Compatible with Democracy? Inequality, Insecurity, and Interdependence. *International Studies Quarterly*, 65(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/isq/sqab056
- Momoh, J. (2022, February 4). Media development and sustainable funding in Nigeria. Retrieved from Premium Times Nigeria website:

  https://www.premiumtimesng.com/opinion/509643-media-development-and-sustainable-funding-in-nigeria-by-john-momoh.html
- Morley, D., & Robins, K. (1997, July). Spaces of Identity: Global Media, Electronic Landscapes and Cultural Boundaries / D. Morley, K. Robins. Retrieved November 30, 2022, from ResearchGate website:

- https://www.researchgate.net/publication/31720458\_Spaces\_of\_Identity\_Global\_Media\_Electronic\_Landscapes\_and\_Cultural\_Boundaries\_D\_Morley\_K\_Robins
- Moyo, N., & Songwe, V. (2012, January 10). Removal of Fuel Subsidies in Nigeria: An Economic Necessity and a Political Dilemma. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Brookings website: https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/removal-of-fuel-subsidies-in-nigeria-an-economic-neces sity-and-a-political-dilemma/
- Muhammad, M. (2020, February 6). SURE-P's failures in Jigawa state. Retrieved January 8, 2021, from Blueprint Newspapers Limited website:

  https://www.blueprint.ng/sure-ps-failures-in-jigawa-state/
- N-SIP NATIONAL SOCIAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME. (2022). Retrieved January 14, 2023, from NSIP National Social Investment Programme website: https://nsip.gov.ng/
- National Bureau of Statistics. (2019). Reports | National Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from nigerianstat.gov.ng website: https://nigerianstat.gov.ng/elibrary/read/1092
- NBC. (2019). NATIONAL BUREAU OF STATISTICS. Retrieved from Nigerianstat.gov.ng website: https://www.nigerianstat.gov.ng/elibrary
- NERC. (2013). History of Electricity Supply in Nigeria. Retrieved January 10, 2023, from Nerc.gov.ng website: https://nerc.gov.ng/index.php/home/nesi/401-history
- News Agency Of Nigeria. (2020, September 28). Parts of N2.67 billion meant for school feeding programme illegally diverted. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Pulse Nigeria website: https://www.pulse.ng/news/local/school-feeding-programme-icpc-uncovers-fraud/7cjh399
- News Wires. (2010, February 24). President Umaru Yar'Adua returns from Saudi hospital. Retrieved March 10, 2020, from France 24 website:

  https://www.france24.com/en/20100224-president-umaru-yar%E2%80%99adua-returns-saudi-hospital

- Nigeria Living Standards Survey 2008-2010 | GHDx. (2019). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Healthdata.org website:
  - https://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/nigeria-living-standards-survey-2008-2010
- Nigeria. National Broadcasting Commission. (2004). This is NBC.
- Nwachukwu, C., & Onyenankeya, K. (2017). Use of Smartphones among College Students in Nigeria: Revelations and Reflections. *Journal of Communication*, 8(2), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/0976691x.2017.1396007
- Nwammuo, A. (2011). Mediamorphosis: Analyzing the Convergence of Digital Media Forms alongside African Traditional Media. *African Research Review*, *5*(2). https://doi.org/10.4314/afrrev.v5i2.67309
- Nwokoma, N. (2022). Nigerians feel the pinch as food prices continue to spiral. There aren't easy solutions. Retrieved from The Conversation website:

  https://theconversation.com/nigerians-feel-the-pinch-as-food-prices-continue-to-spiral-there-arent-easy-solutions-188489
- Odunsi, W. (2020, May 12). Buhari govt to feed 3 million school children in Nigeria Sadiya

  Farouk. Retrieved January 9, 2021, from Daily Post Nigeria website:

  https://dailypost.ng/2020/05/12/buhari-govt-to-feed-3-million-school-children-in-nigeria-sadiya-farouk/
- Ogune, M. (2018, June 10). OurMumuDonDo launches campaign to make government accountable.

  Retrieved March 10, 2021, from The Guardian Nigeria News Nigeria and World News website:

  https://guardian.ng/news/ourmumudondo-launches-campaign-to-make-government-accountable/
- Okino, Z. (2020). Understanding Buhari's Social Intervention Programmes. Retrieved March 10, 2022, from Premiumtimesng.com website:

- https://opinion.premiumtimesng.com/2020/12/30/understanding-buharis-social-intervention-programmes-by-zainab-suleiman-okino/?tztc=1
- Okonjo-Iweala, N., & Osafo-Kwaako, P. (2007). Nigeria's Economic Reforms: Progress and Challenges. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1080251
- Olabamiji, O. (2014). *Use and Misuse of the New Media for Political Communication in Nigeria's*Fourth Republic. Retrieved from

  https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=5dcdddd9d71dc93476871

  d87671683431b5dd80b
- Oladayo Awojobi. (2015, January 5). CULTIVATING POLICY FOR DEVELOPMENT IN

  NIGERIA: AN APPRAISAL OF PRESIDENT GOODLUCK JONATHAN'S... Retrieved

  January 11, 2023, from ResearchGate website:

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/271852837\_CULTIVATING\_POLICY\_FOR\_DEV

  ELOPMENT\_IN\_NIGERIA\_AN\_APPRAISAL\_OF\_PRESIDENT\_GOODLUCK\_JONATH

  AN'S\_TRANSFORMATION\_AGENDA\_2011-2014
- Olaniyan, A., & Akpojivi, U. (2020). Transforming communication, social media, counter-hegemony and the struggle for the soul of Nigeria. *Information, Communication & Society*, 24, 422–437. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118x.2020.1804983
- Olufemi, A. (2023). Eleven years after Yar'Adua's death, Nigeria's electricity challenges remain.

  Retrieved March 7, 2022, from Premiumtimesng.com website:

  https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/headlines/460199-eleven-years-after-yaraduas-death-nigerias-electricity-challenges-remain.html
- Omotola, J. S. (2008). Combating Poverty for Sustainable Human Development in Nigeria: The Continuing Struggle. *Journal of Poverty*, *12*(4), 496–517. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875540802352621

- Onuah, F. (2012, January 7). Nigerian president pleads with public ahead of strike. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from U.S. website:

  https://www.reuters.com/article/nigeria-strikes-president/nigerian-president-pleads-with-public-ahead-of-strike-idUSL6E8C70DZ20120107
- Opejobi, S. (2016, September 21). FG have commenced shortlisting candidates for 500,000 jobs –

  Lai Mohammed. Retrieved February 9, 2020, from Daily Post Nigeria website:

  https://dailypost.ng/2016/09/21/fg-commenced-shortlisting-candidates-500000-jobs-lai-mohammed/
- Ososanya, T. (2019, October 7). Nigerians lament as prices of food items skyrocket by 65% due to border closure. Retrieved February 10, 2022, from Legit.ng Nigeria news. website:

  https://www.legit.ng/1263959-border-closure-nigerians-lament-prices-food-items-skyrocket-by-65-percent.html
- Page, M. T. (2021). Fake Civil Society: The Rise of Pro-Government NGOs in Nigeria. Retrieved from Carnegie Endowment for International Peace website:
  https://carnegieendowment.org/2021/07/28/fake-civil-society-rise-of-pro-government-ngos-in-nigeria-pub-85041
- Papacharissi, Z. (2002). The virtual sphere: The internet as a public sphere. *New Media & Society*, 4(1), 9–27.
- Payne, G., & Williams, M. (2005). Generalization in Qualitative Research. *Sociology*, *39*(2), 295–314. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038505050540
- Pindiga, H. I., & Taylor, I. (2018). Framing presidential illness: The political significance of how the Nigerian press covered former President Yar'Adua's final months. *Journal of African Media Studies*, 10(1), 39–54. https://doi.org/10.1386/jams.10.1.39\_1
- Premium Times. (2018). How privatisation saved Nigeria \$3bn BPE. Retrieved February 12, 2022, from Premiumtimesng.com website:

- https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/top-news/297140-how-privatisation-saved-nigeria-3 bn-bpe.html?tztc=1
- Rachel Pollack Ichou, & Unesco. (2018). World trends in freedom of expression and media development: global report 2017/2018. Paris, France: United Nations Educational, Scientific And Cultural Organization.
- Rasmussen, T. (2009). The Significance of Internet Communication in Public Deliberation. *Javnost the Public*, *16*(1), 17–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/13183222.2009.11008995
- Reddy, V., & Moletsane, R. (2009). Gender and poverty reduction in its African Feminist practice:

  An introduction. *Agenda: Empowering Women for Gender Equity*, (81), 3–13. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/27868975
- Rivera, J. de. (2020). A Guide to Understanding and Combatting Digital Capitalism. *Triple:*Communication, Capitalism & Critique. Open Access Journal for a Global Sustainable

  Information Society, 725–743. https://doi.org/10.31269/triplec.v18i2.1173
- Roberts, A. (2020, October 5). Media Coverage of Global Poverty The Borgen Project Global Poverty. Retrieved from The Borgen Project website:

  https://borgenproject.org/media-coverage-of-global-poverty/
- Roberts, J. (2017, April). Outline of a Marxist Commodity Theory of the Public Sphere. Retrieved

  November 30, 2022, from ResearchGate website:

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/316675146\_Outline\_of\_a\_Marxist\_Commodity\_Theory\_of\_the\_Public\_Sphere
- Roberts, L. D. (2015). Ethical Issues in Conducting Qualitative Research in Online Communities.

  \*Qualitative Research in Psychology, 12(3), 314–325.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1008909
- Rosenbaum, P. R. (2010). Observational studies. New York: Springer.

- Sani Tukur. (2015, February 26). I will restore Nigeria's lost glory, Buhari says at Chatham House.

  Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Premium Times Nigeria website:

  https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/top-news/177561-i-will-restore-nigerias-lost-glory-buhari-says-at-chatham-house.html
- Sanni, K. (2019). 2019 Budget: Buhari retains social intervention, amnesty projects. Retrieved

  January 8, 2021, from Premiumtimesng.com website:

  https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/more-news/302118-2019-budget-buhari-retains-social-intervention-amnesty-projects.html?tztc=1
- Sarangi, S., & Jha, C. (2014, March 1). Social Media, Internet and Corruption.
- Sasu, D. (2022a). Electricity in Nigeria - statistics & facts. Retrieved January 10, 2019, from Statista website: https://www.statista.com/topics/9470/electricity-in-nigeria/
- Sasu, D. (2022b). Nigeria: share of global poverty 2016-2022. Retrieved from Statista website: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1287840/share-of-global-population-living-in-extreme-poverty-in-nigeria/
- Sasu, D. (2022c). Topic: Social media in Nigeria. Retrieved from Statista website: https://www.statista.com/topics/10117/social-media-in-nigeria/#topicOverview
- SBMIntel. (2022, October 27). The SBM Jollof Index: Brace for impact. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from Nigeria's leading geopolitical intelligence platform website:

  https://www.sbmintel.com/2022/10/the-sbm-jollof-index-brace-for-impact/
- Seale, C. (2004). Qualitative Research Practice. London: Sage.
- Sesan. (2017, March 28). Suswam, two others diverted N9.8bn SURE-P, police funds –FG.

  Retrieved January 5, 2021, from Punch Newspapers website:

  https://punchng.com/suswam-two-others-diverted-n9-8bn-sure-p-police-funds-fg/
- Shearlaw, M. (2015, April 14). Did the #bringbackourgirls campaign make a difference in Nigeria? *The Guardian*. Retrieved from

- https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/apr/14/nigeria-bringbackourgirls-campaign-one-year-on
- Shola, S. A. (2010). Privatization and Poverty Reduction in Nigeria. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1662377
- Silva, M. (2013). Failed states: causes and consequences. *International Journal of Public Law and Policy*, *3*(1), 63. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijplap.2013.051014
- Simwa, A. (2017a, November 22). Freedom of Information Act in Nigeria: history of creation and approval. Retrieved March 10, 2022, from Legit.ng Nigeria news. website: https://www.legit.ng/1136476-origin-freedom-information-act-nigeria.html
- Simwa, A. (2017b, December 27). Biography, family and success story of first female governor in Nigeria. Retrieved March 10, 2023, from Legit.ng Nigeria news. website:

  https://www.legit.ng/1142641-who-female-governor-nigeria.html
- Solène Benhaddou. (2021, July 13). Africa: Which countries charge the most for internet data?

  Retrieved December 29, 2022, from The Africa Report.com website:

  https://www.theafricareport.com/107259/africa-which-countries-charge-the-most-for-internet-data/
- Soyombo, F. (2021). Buhari has 99 problems, but Twitter is not one of them. Retrieved March 11, 2023, from www.aljazeera.com website:

  https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/6/9/buharis-got-99-problems-but-twitter-is-not-one-of-them
- Stephen, C. C., Omokhudu, O. W., & Anthony, K. A. (2016). The Impact of Privatization and Commercialization in Nigeria. *International Research Journal of Management, IT & Social Sciences*, 3(9), 91. https://doi.org/10.21744/irjmis.v3i9.253

- Suleiman, J., & Ojomo, O. (2019). The Political Economy of News Reporting and Poverty in Nigeria. *European Scientific Journal ESJ*, 15(22). https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2019.v15n22p213
- Tamir, C. (2019, February 12). As elections near, Nigerians view their country's economy and political system negatively. Retrieved from Pew Research Center website:

  https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/02/12/as-elections-near-nigerians-view-their-countrys-economy-and-political-system-negatively/
- Tayo, O., Thompson, R., & Thompson, E. (2015). Impact of the Digital Divide on Computer Use and Internet Access on the Poor in Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *5*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v5n1p1
- Tertsakian, C. (2003). Renewed Crackdown on Freedom of Expression in Nigeria. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/report/2003/12/02/renewed-crackdown-freedom-expression
- Tume Ahemba. (2007, May 28). Obasanjo ally buys second Nigerian oil refinery. Retrieved January 10, 2023, from U.S. website:

  https://www.reuters.com/article/nigeria-refinery/obasanjo-ally-buys-second-nigerian-oil-refinery-idUKL2854224220070528
- Uchendu .E. (2022, August 10). Patriarchy persists in Nigeria and men aren't the only ones who keep it that way. Retrieved October 10, 2022, from The ICIR- Latest News, Politics,
  Governance, Elections, Investigation, Factcheck, Covid-19 website:
  https://www.icirnigeria.org/patriarchy-persists-in-nigeria-and-men-arent-the-only-ones-who-keep-it-that-way/
- Uluç Kadıoğlu. (2021, January 27). Police Brutality in Nigeria and the #EndSARS Movement.

  Retrieved January 14, 2023, from Harvard International Review website:

  https://hir.harvard.edu/police-brutality-in-nigeria-and-the-endsars-movement/

- UNESCO. (2021). World Trends in Freedom of Expression and Media Development. Retrieved January 14, 2023, from Unesco.org website: https://www.unesco.org/en/world-media-trends
- Uzuegbunam, C. E. (2012). Media, Government and Good Governance in Nigeria: Arch Foes or Potential Allies? *Www.academia.edu*, 758–772. Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/41938868/Media\_Government\_and\_Good\_Governance\_in\_Niger ia Arch Foes or Potential Allies
- Van Duyn, E. (2020). Mainstream Marginalization: Secret Political Organizing Through Social Media. *Social Media + Society*, *6*(4), 205630512098104. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120981044
- Vanguard. (2011a, May 31). At last, Jonathan signs FoI Bill into law. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Vanguard News website:

  https://www.vanguardngr.com/2011/06/at-last-jonathan-signs-foi-bill-into-law/
- Vanguard. (2011b, August 18). Privatisation: The criminal auctioning of Nigeria. Retrieved January 10, 2023, from Vanguard News website:

  https://www.vanguardngr.com/2011/08/privatisation-the-criminal-auctioning-of-nigeria/
- Vanguard. (2013, March 20). Investors pay N73bn for PHCN successor firms. Retrieved January 10, 2023, from Vanguard News website:
  - https://www.vanguardngr.com/2013/03/investors-pay-n73bn-for-phcn-successor-firms/
- VOA. (2009). Nigerian Leader Linked to Privatization Deals. Retrieved January 5, 2021, from VOA website: https://www.voanews.com/a/a-13-2006-10-12-voa24/313911.html
- VOA. (2011, November 14). Nigerian President Defends Cutting \$7.5 Billion Fuel Subsidy.

  Retrieved March 10, 2023, from VOA website:

  https://www.voanews.com/a/nigerian-president-defends-cutting-75-billion-fuel-subsidy-1338
  69473/159171.html

- Wahl-Jorgensen, K. (2019). Questioning the Ideal of the Public Sphere: The Emotional Turn. *Social Media + Society*, *5*(3), 205630511985217. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305119852175
- Wendelin, M., & Meyen, M. (2009). Habermas vs. Noelle-Neumann. *Javnost the Public*, *16*(2), 25–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/13183222.2009.11009002
- Whiteman, K. (2010, May 5). Umaru Yar'Adua obituary. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2010/may/06/nigeria-president-umara-yaradua-obituary
- Wihbey, J. (2015). Internet harassment and online threats targeting women: Research review.

  Retrieved from The Journalist's Resource website:

  https://journalistsresource.org/criminal-justice/internet-harassment-online-threats-targeting-women-research-review/
- Williams, C. (2007). Research Methods. *Journal of Business & Economics Research (JBER)*, *5*(3). Retrieved from https://clutejournals.com/index.php/JBER/article/view/2532
- Williams, M. (2016a). Generalization in Qualitative Research Geoff Payne, Malcolm Williams, 2005. Retrieved December 26, 2022, from Sociology website: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0038038505050540
- Williams, M. (2016b). Generalization in Qualitative Research Geoff Payne, Malcolm Williams, 2005. Retrieved December 26, 2022, from Sociology website: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0038038505050540
- Williams, M. (2016c). Generalization in Qualitative Research Geoff Payne, Malcolm Williams, 2005. Retrieved December 26, 2022, from Sociology website: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0038038505050540
- Williams, M. (2016d). Generalization in Qualitative Research Geoff Payne, Malcolm Williams, 2005. Retrieved December 26, 2022, from Sociology website: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0038038505050540

- World Bank. (2023). Nigeria Poverty Rate 1985-2023. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from Macrotrends.net website:

  https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/NGA/nigeria/poverty-rate#:~:text=Nigeria%20povert y%20rate%20for%202015,a%200.9%25%20decline%20from%202012.
- World bank. (2020). Individuals using the Internet (% of population) Nigeria | Data. Retrieved from data.worldbank.org website:

  https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.NET.USER.ZS?locations=NG
- World Bank Group. (2022, March 22). Deep Structural Reforms Guided by Evidence Are Urgently Needed to Lift Millions of Nigerians Out of Poverty, says New World Bank Report.

  Retrieved January 8, 2023, from World Bank website:

  https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2022/03/21/afw-deep-structural-reforms-g uided-by-evidence-are-urgently-needed-to-lift-millions-of-nigerians-out-of-poverty
- Yusuf, K. (2023). UPDATED: Buhari attacks Nigerian media, accuses journalists of "reporting irresponsible remarks." Retrieved March 9, 2021, from Premiumtimesng.com website: https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/headlines/487589-buhari-attacks-nigerian-media-accuses-journalists-of-reporting-irresponsible-remarks.html
- Zayani, M. (2020). Digital Journalism, Social Media Platforms, and Audience Engagement: The Case of AJ+. *Digital Journalism*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2020.1816140

